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OUR VALUES

HUMANITY

Always refl ect respect for human life and care for its well being.

QUALITY

Offers the highest quality standards in the industry.

PROGRESS

Seeks opportunities to produce new consumer healthcare 

products and services.

LEADERSHIP

Stays ahead in every aspect of the TCM industry.
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BRINGING THE BEST OF THE WORLD TO 
THE REST OF THE WORLD         

With an expanding network of over 120 retail outlets across 
Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore, Macau and China, 
Eu Yan Sang reaches out to the modern consumer with a 
timeless message of health and care.
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ADVANCING TRADITION THROUGH 
SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Combining the rich history and knowledege of traditional 
Chinese medicine with rigorous scientifi c research and 
analysis, Eu Yan Sang provides discerning customers 
with over 1,000 quality herbs and 280 products under the 
trusted Eu Yan Sang brand.
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VISION
To be a global consumer healthcare company 

with a focus in Traditional Chinese Medicine 

and Integrative Healthcare.

MISSION         
To care for mankind by helping our consumers 

realize good life-long health.
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BRINGING TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE 
TO LIFE FOR GENERATIONS TO COME

Maintaining the relevance of traditional Chinese medicine via 
innovative concepts, Eu Yan Sang expands its offerings beyond 
retail stores to a chain of over 20 TCM clinics and new formats such 
as the lifestyle red white & pureTM store in Singapore and the 20,000 
square feet Health Cité in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 
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All members of the Eu Yan Sang family were saddened by the passing 
of Mr Joseph Eu, the late Chairman of Eu Yan Sang International 
on 31 March 2007.

Mr Eu’s leadership helped steer the company through many exciting 
and challenging times.  It was not only his contributions as an 
experienced businessman that endeared him to everyone at Eu Yan 
Sang but also his generosity and friendship which he willingly gave 
to all who asked.

In his role as Chairman, Mr Eu ensured that the Board meetings 
were conducted professionally and he was able to harness each 
Board member’s skills and experience for the benefi t of the Group. 
He was a champion of the shareholders and an advocate for reform 
and modernity.

Everyone who knew him is a better person for the experience and 
he will be greatly missed.  Eu Yan Sang has lost a great Chairman 
and we’re all dedicated to honouring his legacy by continuing to 
build an exceptional company.

Dedication to Mr Joseph Eu 
– Chairman of Eu Yan Sang (May 1993 to March 2007)

Tribute to our beloved ex-Chairman
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

DR JENNIFER LEE
Chairman

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
  

Macroeconomic conditions and 

consumer sentiment continued to 

be positive for the Group in FY2007 

enabling us to post a 12% increase in 

revenue to S$191.5 million on broad-

based growth in all key geographical 

markets and business segments. 

Given the effect of the strengthening 

Singapore dollar against regional 

currencies, our underlying revenue 

performance for our main markets in 

Singapore, Malaysia and Hong Kong 

was in fact better when expressed 

in local currency terms. Hong Kong 

reported a 13% growth to HK$431.3 

million, Malaysia increased by 16% 

to RM$95.1 million, while Singapore 

improved by 27% to S$54.3 million. 

The improved performance was due 

to higher sales at existing retail outlets 

as well as contributions from 13 new 

outlets. Revenue was further boosted 

by three new clinics opened during the 

year. 

Three factors, however, impacted our 

FY2007 bottomline performance:

We commenced the relocation of our 

Hong Kong factory to a larger premise 

in June 2006. This caused a temporary 

disruption in our operations for the 

fi rst half of FY2007. Our new lifestyle 

concept store - red white & pure™ 

incurred start-up losses of S$3.9 

million, and our Australian operations 

underwent voluntary administration 

and incurred an operating loss of 

S$0.95 million.

As a result, our net profi t rose by a 

lesser margin of 2% to S$14.7 million.

On a positive note, these issues we 

faced in FY2007 are transitional, and 

various initiatives were put in place to 

facilitate our long-term profi t growth. 

In particular, the larger manufacturing 

plant and R&D facility, named the Eu 

Yan Sang Centre, which was opened 

in Yuen Long, Hong Kong in November 

2006, will triple our manufacturing 

capacity to fulfi ll the strong demand for 

our products.

BEYOND TRADITIONAL 
BOUNDARIES

As the leading traditional Chinese 

medicine (TCM) player outside of China, 

our focus has historically been on retail 

operations in the three core markets 

Singapore, Hong Kong and Malaysia. 

We shall continue to strengthen our 

presence in these markets by opening 

at least 10 to 12 new retail outlets 

for FY2008. Emphasis will be placed 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

We shall continue 
to strengthen our 
presence in these 
markets by opening 
at least 10 to 12 
new retail outlets for 
FY2008. Emphasis 
will be placed on 
increasing revenue 
from existing clinics, 
while seeking 
opportunities to open 
an additional two to 
four new clinics in 
the year. 

TCM Clinic - Jurong Medical Centre,

Singapore
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on increasing revenue from existing 

clinics, while seeking opportunities 

to open an additional two to four new 

clinics in the year. 

As at the end of FY2007, we had 

125 retail stores, 17 TCM clinics, 

three specialist TCM clinics and three 

Integrative Medicine Centres.

In addition to our core operations, 

we have been growing into markets 

beyond these traditional boundaries:

Beyond traditional markets – we 

have obtained retail, wholesale and 

product licenses necessary for our 

expansion into China. Starting in 

Guangzhou, where we have a strong 

brand presence, we opened our fi rst 

retail store in May 2007. In Macau we 

will be opening our second store at the 

highly anticipated The Venetian by the 

second quarter of FY2008. We are also 

planning to open our fi rst retail store in 

Taipei, Taiwan around the fi rst quarter 

of FY2008.    

A critical factor that supports our 

geographical expansion is our 

increasing brand recognition. For 

FY2007, our brand was independently 

valued at S$65 million by IE Singapore 

and Interbrand. We garnered notable 

awards such as Top 200 SMEs for 

Forbes Asia ‘Best Under a Billion’ 

category and ‘Most Trusted Brand 2007 

– ‘Platinum Award’ under the TCM 

category by Reader’s Digest.

The reputation we have built in our key 

markets gives us the confi dence to 

move into new markets knowing that 

local consumers will recognize us as a 

premium and trusted TCM brand. 

Beyond traditional methods – With 

a history of being a trusted household 

name for 128 years, one of our main 

challenges for the future is to modernize 

TCM to fi t into contemporary lifestyles. 

To do so we must fi rstly be able to 

validate the effi cacy of our product 

offerings through science. To this 

end, we have carried out extensive 

analytical, diagnostics, profi ling and 

developmental activities. As of today, 

we have amassed the chromatographic 

fi ngerprints of close to 500 key 

TCM herbs. These chromatographic 

fi ngerprints allow us to ensure the high 

standards of the herbs we use and 

eliminate erroneous usage of visually 

similar but bio-chemically different 

herbs.

In addition, our collaboration with 

various research and academic 

institutions have enabled us to remain 

at the forefront of technological 

innovations pertaining to TCM. This has 

helped us maintain a healthy product 



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Health Cité – Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

portfolio and to introduce nine to 12 

new products every year. 

As a result of the credibility of our 

brand we were granted an exclusive 

distributorship by Ginseng & Herb Co-

op of Wisconsin in December 2006. 

This gives us the sole worldwide right 

to procure and distribute Wisconsin-

grown American Ginseng with the 

Wisconsin Ginseng Seal to ensure 

authenticity as certifi ed by the Ginseng 

Board of Wisconsin, Inc. We expect 

revenue in FY2008 arising from the 

distributorship to be in excess of S$10 

million, with the potential to grow to 

more than S$40 million within the next 

three to fi ve years.

Beyond traditional concepts – We 

have always sought to leverage on 

our extensive retail reach and the 

assurance of quality on our brand to 

bring TCM to everyone. 

In order to stay relevant and to cater 

to ever-changing consumer demands, 

we continue to seek to provide our 

customers more innovative and holistic 

retail experiences.

Our fl agship store in Kuala Lumpur, 

Malaysia, Health Cité, opened in 

December 2006 with a whole new 

experiential TCM wellness retail 

concept. This marks our fi rst foray into 

our multi-offerings retail concept. 

With a retail space of around 20,000 

square feet, we seek to offer the most 

comprehensive TCM retail experience 

in Malaysia. Consumer response to 

date has been positive, as Health 

Cité offers an extensive range of 

TCM products, herbs and services 

under one roof that we believe is 

unmatched in the country. 

LONG-TERM COMMITMENT 
TO SHAREHOLDER VALUE

Based on our strong operating 

cashfl ow of S$10.7 million for FY2007, 

the Directors are recommending 

maintaining a fi rst and fi nal dividend 

of 1.0 cent and a special dividend of 

1.0 cent, making a total of 2.0 cents 

per ordinary share. Both are tax 

exempt one-tier dividends. 

This is the sixth consecutive year that 

we will pay out between 40% and 55% 

of our net profi t as dividends, and 

signifi es our long-term commitment 

to deliver tangible value to our 

shareholders.

OUTLOOK

We have achieved revenue growth 

every year since our listing in July 

2000, with FY2007 being our fourth 

consecutive year of record profi t. I 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

As a result of the 

credibility of our brand 

we were granted an 

exclusive distributorship 

by Ginseng & Herb 

Co-op of Wisconsin 

in December 2006. 

This gives us the sole 

worldwide right to 

procure and distribute 

Wisconsin-grown 

American Ginseng 

with the Wisconsin 

Ginseng Seal to ensure 

authenticity as certifi ed 

by the Ginseng Board 

of Wisconsin, Inc.

believe we have established a tried-

and-tested framework to generate 

further growth. While we are mindful 

that retail rentals and other factors 

may affect our performance, we are 

optimistic that our various growth 

initiatives will stand us in good stead 

for FY2008 and beyond.

Barring unforeseen circumstances, we 

expect FY2008 revenue and operating 

profi t to exceed those achieved in 

FY2007.

APPRECIATION

The Board, management and staff 

noted with deep regret and sadness 

the passing of Mr Joseph Eu, our 

previous Chairman on 31 March 2007. 

Mr Joseph Eu was 80 years of age and 

had served on the Board since 27 May 

1993. His contribution to the Group has 

been invaluable and he will be missed 

by all of us. We will carry on the Eu Yan 

Sang legacy in his memory.

I wish to extend my thanks and 

appreciation to our stakeholders 

including our customers, bankers, 

business associates, suppliers and 

shareholders for their support and 

confi dence in the Group. My gratitude 

is also extended to my distinguished 

fellow members of the Board who have 

been most  supportive and provided 

valuable guidance to the Group 

throughout the year.

I would like to take this opportunity to 

welcome all new employees and thank 

all existing ones for their hard work, 

dedication and loyalty to the Group.

I look forward to your continued support 

as we strive towards becoming a global 

name synonymous with traditional 

Chinese medicine.

Dr Jennifer Lee
Chairman

17 September 2007
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

OVERVIEW

For the full year ended 30 June 2007, the Group benefi ted from buoyant economies 

across the region. Revenue rose 12% to S$191.5 million as compared to S$170.4 

million in FY2006. Gross margin fell marginally from 50.4% to 49.5%. Profi t for the 

year grew by 2% to S$14.7 million as compared to S$14.4 million in FY2006. The 

stable results were mainly attributable to operating losses incurred for our new 

concept store at VivoCity in Singapore amounting to about S$3.9 million and the 

continuing losses in Australia amounting to approximately S$0.95 million since the 

operations were placed under the charge of an Administrator.

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL OPERATIONS

COUNTRIES
GROUP YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 

FY2007 FY2006

Hong Kong

Singapore

Malaysia

Australia

Total

CHANGE

%

S$m S$m 

85.9

54.3

41.7

9.6

191.5

80.8

42.8

36.0

10.8

170.4

+6

+27

+16

-11

+12

Growth was broad-based across all key geographical markets. Singapore operations 

spearheaded growth with turnover rising 27% to $54.3 million. 

Malaysia and Hong Kong turnover grew by 16% and 6% respectively. In absolute 

terms, Singapore outperformed all the other markets with turnover increasing by 

27% (S$11.5 million).

The underlying revenue performance for our main markets of Singapore, Malaysia 

and Hong Kong was actually even better when expressed in local currency terms. 

Hong Kong reported a 13% growth to HK$431.3 million, Malaysia increased 16% to 

RM$95.1 million while Singapore jumped 27% to S$54.3 million.

Mid Valley, Malaysia

Paragon, Singapore

Telford, Hong Kong
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

ACTIVITIES

GROUP YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 

FY2007 FY2006

Retail – TCM*

Wholesale – TCM

Clinics – TCM/IMC

Others

Total

CHANGE

%

S$m S$m 

140.0

28.3

22.2

1.0

191.5

122.7

26.9

20.5

0.3

170.4

+14

+5

+8

n.m

+12

Retail turnover spearheaded the Group’s growth, rising 14% to S$140.0 million for 

FY2007. The improvement was due to higher sales at existing retail outlets and 

contributions from 13 (net) new outlets opened during the year under review. Retail 

activities were buoyant at the outlets, as a result of improving consumer sentiment 

and Lunar New Year shopping from December 2006 to February 2007. The Group’s 

fl agship products, Bo Ying Compound and Bak Foong Pills as well as top selling 

product,  Bottled Bird’s Nest continued to contribute strongly.

TURNOVER BY ACTIVITIES:

*Traditional Chinese Medicine - comprising Chinese Proprietary Medicine 

(“CPM”), Health Foods and Medicinal Herbs

Existing Outlets

New Outlets

HONG KONG SINGAPORE MALAYSIA

36

7

28
5

48
1

New Retail Outlets
by Geographical 
Locations
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FY 07

FY 06

SINGAPORE
(S$)

MALAYSIA
(RM)

HONG KONG
(HK$)

OPERATIONS REVIEW

The Group opened four new TCM clinics in Singapore during the year. The 

establishment of these new clinics further contributed to the improvement of the 

Group’s turnover. 

Revenue from Clinics increased 8% to S$22.2 million for FY2007 due to greater 

awareness of integrative medicine and recent TV programmes in Singapore on 

traditional Chinese medicine. 

The Group will place emphasis on increasing revenue from existing clinics, while 

seeking opportunities to open two to four new clinics annually.

ACTIVITIES

TCM CLINICS

ADDED/
CLOSED

Hong Kong

Singapore

Malaysia

Australia

Total

IMC

-

4

-

-

4

SPECIALIST TCM

TOTAL ADDED/
CLOSED

TOTAL ADDED/
CLOSED

TOTAL

-

13

4

-

17

-

-

-

-

-

3

-

-

3

-

-

-

(1)

(1)

-

-

-

3

3

Key retail performance indicators - same store sales and sales per square foot 

across the three key retail markets experienced continued improvement due to new 

products and successful implementation of advertising and marketing strategies. 

The Group has a target of opening 10 to 12 stores each year.

WHOLESALE

The Wholesale revenue at S$28.3 million was 5% higher than last year. Based on the 

respective region’s local currencies, the Wholesale segment actually showed growth 

ranging from 2% to 16%. However, due to exchange translations into the reporting 

currency, the growth rate was affected. On the brighter side, exports to China have 

picked up and accounted for more than 20% of the Wholesale segment.

CLINICS

‘000 in  
respective 
currencies

1,784
1,946

3,570
3,760

12,617
11,693

Sales Per Square Foot

Specialist TCM Centre – Paragon, 

Singapore

Health Cité – Foot Refl exology and 

TuiNa Centre, Malaysia
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

The popularity of Bottled Bird’s Nest products continued in this fi nancial year, growing 

12% to S$20.8 million. Having successfully registered the Bottled Bird’s Nest products 

for distribution in China and with the expanded in-house manufacturing capabilities 

in Hong Kong, these initiatives are expected to provide further growth for sales of 

Bottled Bird’s Nest products in FY2008.

With the successful renewal of product license for Bo Ying Compound in China, 

sales for Bo Ying Compound went up 14% to S$16.4 million. We currently distribute 

Bo Ying Compound and Bak Foong Pills to over 7,000 hospitals and drug stores in 

China.  

Sales of Lingzhi Cracked Spores Capsules fell marginally by 5% to S$9.3 million 

mainly due to disruption of supply during the fi rst half of FY2007. This was a result of 

our factory relocation to the Eu Yan Sang Centre in Hong Kong. This issue has since 

been resolved and the new factory is now operating smoothly. 

Essence of Chicken products moved into our top fi ve products during FY2007, 

replacing Hou Ning in the list. This was primarily due to the effective advertising and 

promotional efforts. 

Our strategy is to roll out approximately nine to 12 new products each year to 

continuously diversify and increase revenue.

OUR TOP FIVE PRODUCTS

PRODUCT NAME FOR
FY2007

S$m
FY2006

S$m
% 

CHANGE

Bottled Bird’s Nest General health  20.8 18.6 +12
 maintenance

Bo Ying Compound  Infants’ health 16.4 14.4 +14

Bak Foong Pills  Women’s health 14.1  13.7 +3
 
Lingzhi Cracked  Improves immunity 9.3 9.8 -5
Spores Capsules

Essence of Chicken General Health 5.2 3.2 +63
 Maintenance

TOTAL  65.8 59.7 +10

A range of Health Supplements
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TURNOVER ($m)

Profi t Before Tax ($m)

Profi t After Tax, Extraordinary Item 
and Minority Interests ($m)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

03  04  05  06  07

104.3 127.8  157.8 170.4 191.5

 03  04  05  06  07

4.5 2.3 12.2 15.5 18.7 19.77.0 12.4 14.4 14.7

30 

25 

20 

15

10

5

0 

EBITDA ($m)

03  04  05  06  07

12.9 19.9  23.8 26.2 26.7

6 

7 

4 

3

2

1

0 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (cents)

03  04  05  06  07

0.66 1.96  3.47 4.01 4.08

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

90 

75 

60 

45

30

15

0 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ($m)

03  04  05  06  07

53.5 57.8  66.8 79.2 91.1

Return on Total Assets (%)

Return on Total Equity (%)

18 

15 

12 

9

6

3

0 

 03  04  05  06  07

2.0 3.2 7.4 11.4 11.5 9.911.6 18.6 18.2 16.2
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CALENDAR OF EVENTS

September 2006

Eu Yan Sang participated in one of the spouse programmes lined up 

by Singapore Tourism Board (STB) for the International Monetary Fund 

(IMF) / World Bank Meeting held in Singapore, where canapés using Eu 

Yan Sang Chinese herbs were featured at the Welcome Reception.

Eu Yan Sang was the runner up for Securities Investors Association 

(Singapore), Investor’s Choice Award 2006 - Most Transparent 

Company under the Commerce category.

October 2006

Annual General Meeting & Extraordinary General Meeting was convened at the National Library of 

Singapore on 27 October 2006.

Singapore Packaging Star Award

The Limited Edition Eu Yan Sang Hua Yan Bird’s Nest has been voted as one of the winners in the Commercial 

Category-Sales & Display Product by Singapore Manufacturers’ Federation during the Singapore Packaging 

Star Award 2006. This event was also co-organized by the Packaging Council of Singapore and supported 

by IE Singapore. 

Eu Yan Sang International was selected by Forbes Asia to be amongst the ‘200 Best Under a Billion’ in Asia 

Pacifi c. To make it to the list, companies must fi rst have revenues under US$1 billion a year and fi ve-year 

returns on capital of at least 5%.  The companies were then judged by sustained gains in sales, return on 

equity and earnings.

November 2006 
The offi cial opening of Eu Yan Sang Centre in Yuen Long, Hong Kong was held on 3 November 2006. The 

new facility, with a fl oor area of close to 130,000 sq. ft., represents a major commitment by the Group to the 

scientifi c advancement of TCM in the region. EYS Centre also housed collaborations in academic research 

and training for herbalists in the region.

1

2

1

3

2

3
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November 2006 
Our brand was awarded the Fastest Growing Brand Award by International Enterprise 

(IE) Singapore, and was independently valued by Interbrand with a brand value of 

S$64.2 million (increase of 29% from previous year).

Eu Yan Sang Singapore is also listed as the No. 1 market value share in its key products 

for the Singapore’s market - by Euromonitor Research. 

Eu Yan Sang Singapore won the ‘Best Advertisement of the Month’ conferred by Singapore Press Holdings, 

‘Top 5 Most Impact Award’ by TODAY Newspaper and was nominated as one of ‘Top 40 Finalists of 

Singapore Effi e Award’ for its creativity in the “Essence of Chicken” advertising campaign.

December 2006 

With our core competencies in retail and brand reputation, Eu Yan Sang 

International secured the sole worldwide exclusive distributorship for the 

highly coveted Wisconsin American Ginseng with Ginseng & Herb Co-op. 

The Group procures and maintains a supply of Wisconsin-grown American 

Ginseng from the Co-op, for processing and distribution of ginseng products 

globally. Only genuine Wisconsin American ginseng products will carry the specially customized Ginseng 

Board of Wisconsin Inc. Seal®, commonly known as the Wisconsin Seal, owned by the Ginseng Board of 

Wisconsin, Inc. (“GBW”).

Eu Yan Sang Health Cité in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, an all-encompassing TCM retail and treatment centre 

was offi cially opened on 11 December 2006.

Eu Yan Sang Hong Kong was voted Hong Kong Famous Brand by the Hong Kong Brand Centre.

Eu Yan Sang Singapore had an  article in The Straits Times. The company is seen as a modern Traditional 

Chinese Medicine company, it focuses on product development and packaging design, especially the 

bottled Bird’s Nest, which caters to people of all walks of life.

CALENDAR OF EVENTS

4

5

6

6

4

5

7

7
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CALENDAR OF EVENTS

January 2007 

The pilot red white & pure™ store was offi cially launched at 

VivoCity in Singapore on 27 January 2007.

For the second consecutive year, Eu Yan Sang Hong Kong was 

voted as the ‘Outstanding Biochemistry Technology Company’ 

by readers of Capital Magazine. 

Eu Yan Sang Hong Kong was recognized as a caring company by the Hong Kong Council of Social 

Service.

Eu Yan Sang Malaysia raised a total of RM$68,738 for the Yayasan Sunbeams Home with Bucket 

of Gold Charity Drive held in conjunction with the Chinese New Year promotions. This annual charity 

drive assisted the Home, in building and rehearsing a one-stop aid centre for day-care, single-parent 

children, troubled youth and old folks.

Feburary 2007 

For the third consecutive year, Eu Yan Sang International participated as a sponsor in Chingay 

– Parade of Dreams organized by the People’s Association of Singapore. Based on the theme of 

‘Supporting Racial Harmony’, an 18-metre fl oat was created to depict the natural elements - water, 

earth and sun. This fl oat took centre-stage at the Parade with a team of 80 Chinese, Malay and 

Indian dancers from People’s Association Talents group.

March 2007 

Eu Yan Sang Hong Kong was awarded the ‘Most Trustworthy Retailer Award’ and ‘Top Ten Most 

Preferred Brands’ by Guangzhou Daily.

The fi rst series of Wisconsin American Ginseng products were launched in Hong Kong on 14 March 

2007. To validate authencity of Wisconsin American Ginseng, a unique seal was developed to mark 

this exclusivity. All genuine Wisconsin American Ginseng products will bear this seal.

9

10

9 10

8 8

11
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April 2007 

Eu Yan Sang International was awarded the Platinum Award for Reader’s Digest Trusted 

Brands Award, under the TCM category. The highest accolation within the category, the 

award was conferred based on readers’ votes collated on a survey done by Reader’s 

Digest.

Eu Yan Sang International once again participated as the Premium Herb Partner at the annual World Gourmet 

Summit – earmarked as one of Singapore Tourism Board’s signature events. A modern Chinese banquet and 

cooking demonstration with the theme of ‘using Ginseng innovatively’ was created as part of the sponsorship 

which served as a prelude to the promotions of Wisconsin American Ginseng products in Singapore.

May 2007 

In conjunction with Teacher’s Day on 16 May 2007, Eu Yan Sang Malaysia launched the Teacher’s Card – a 

card offering a range of customized privileges and entitlements to the teaching professionals. Deputy Minister 

of Educational Malaysia, Datuk Hon Choon Kim offi ciated the launch ceremony.

Eu Yan Sang Hong Kong was nominated Service Brand by the Hong Kong Brand Development Council.

July 2007

Eu Yan Sang International announced the fi rst university scholarship for Nanyang Technological University 

(NTU) TCM students. Three scholarships worth S$10,000 a year for each of the fi nal two years of study were 

made available to all eligible undergraduates enrolled in NTU’s Double Degree Programme in Biomedical 

Sciences and TCM.

The 18th World Organization of National Colleges, Academies (WONCA) and Academic Associations of 

General Practitioners/Family Physicians Conference was held in Singapore and Eu Yan Sang Integrative 

Health participated as a sponsor in this triennial world conference. This gave us the platform to network with 

2,500 international and local family doctors and general practitioners.

CALENDAR OF EVENTS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DR JENNIFER LEE
Non-Executive Chairman 

Dr Jennifer Lee was appointed as the Non-
Executive Chairman of the Board on 9 April 
2007. Dr Lee has been an independent 
director since 7 July 2000. She serves 
as the Chairman of the Compensation 
Committee and as a member to the Audit 
and Nominating Committees. 

Dr Lee is a graduate of the medical faculty 
of the then Singapore University, and 
subsequently obtained her MBA from 
National University of Singapore. She 
began her career in healthcare in the 
practice of medicine in her fi rst several years 
post graduation, moving subsequently into 
healthcare management at the Ministry of 
Health. She was Chief Operating Offi cer 
in the Singapore General Hospital, in 
which capacity she was involved in its 
corporatization, and subsequently moved 
on to become CEO of KK Women’s and 
Children’s Hospital for 13 years from 
1991. She was a Nominated Member of 
Parliament from 1999 to 2004.

RICHARD EU            
Group CEO 

Richard Eu, Group CEO, is responsible 
for the overall corporate development and 
management of the EYS Group. Prior 
to this, he worked in merchant banking, 
investment management, stock broking, 
computer distribution and venture capital 
before becoming the Group General 
Manager of Eu Yan Sang Holdings 
Ltd (EYSH) in 1989. EYSH was the 
owner of the Eu Yan Sang business in 
Singapore and Malaysia at that time. In 
1993, Richard organized a management 
buyout of the business and in 1996 it was 
merged with the Eu Yan Sang business 
in Hong Kong, forming the Eu Yan Sang 
International Group, as it is today.

Richard is an Independent Director of 
Broadway Industrial Group Limited, the 
Chairman of the Governing Council 
of Singapore Institute of Management 
and Harry’s Holdings Limited. Richard 
graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in 
Law from London University, UK. Apart 
from his business interests, he is also 
involved in community projects and non-
profi t organizations.
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CLIFFORD EU
Managing Director & Executive 
Vice President, International

Clifford Eu, Managing Director
& EVP of  Eu Yan Sang 
International Ltd, is responsible 
for the expansion into 
international markets of the 
Group. In addition, he looked 
after the business of Eu Yan 
Sang Australia Pty Ltd. He joined 
the Group in 1994. Prior to this, 
he was involved with his family’s 
investment holding group, 
overseeing its manufacturing 
and distribution operations in 
Singapore and Malaysia. In 1986, 
he co-founded a company, which 
distributes consumer health 
products. Clifford graduated with 
a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical 
Engineering from the University 
of Melbourne, Australia. 

LESLIE MAH
Executive Director 

Leslie Mah was appointed as 
Executive Director on 3 January 
2006 and is responsible for group 
strategy, business developments 
and investor relations. Prior to 
this, Leslie was Chief Financial 
Offi cer and was instrumental in 
spearheading many milestones 
and developments for the Group 
which included the introduction 
of high-end premium bottled 
bird’s nests, the inception of 
Eu Yan Sang Specialist TCM 
Centres in Singapore and 
restructuring of the Group’s 
borrowings. In 2005, Leslie had 
led the Group in its expansion 
efforts with the entering of the 
Thailand market. Before joining 
Eu Yan Sang International Ltd, 
he was the Executive Director 
and Company Secretary for 
Cerebos Pacifi c Limited.  Prior 
to his tenure at Cerebos, he was 
the Finance Director of Harpers 
Gilfi llan. He is an independent 
non-executive director of 
Hotel Properties Limited and 
Goodpack Limited. Leslie is also 
a Fellow member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales.

ROBERT EU
Non-Executive Director

Robert Eu is the non-executive 
Director of our company 
from 24 January 1997. He is 
currently Managing Director 
of Asia Investment Banking at 
W R Hambrecht+Co, a San 
Francisco-based investment 
bank. Robert joined W R 
Hambrecht+Co in April 1998 
from H&Q Asia Pacifi c, a 
leading Asian private equity fi rm 
and an affi liate of investment 
bank Hambrecht & Quist, where 
he was co-founder and was 
the Managing Director of the 
Hong Kong offi ce. From 1992 
to 1993, he was the Business 
Development Manager for 
Citibank NA Hong Kong. Robert 
graduated with a Bachelor of Arts 
in History from Northwestern 
University, USA.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MALCOLM AU
Independent Director

Malcolm Au was appointed to our Board 
as an Independent Director on 2 January 
2004. He started his career with Campbell 
Soup Company in Canada. Subsequently, 
he was promoted to start Campbell’s 
business in the Far East as its fi rst 
Managing Director. He was also elected 
to the Board of Campbell’s in Australia. In 
1991, he founded Artal Food Industries 
Limited, AFI, as a partner and Managing 
Director. AFI invested in food businesses 
in Hong Kong, PRC, Singapore, Malaysia 
and Indonesia. AFI also became the 
biggest bread baking company in 
China. He retired in 2003. Malcolm is a 
non-executive Director of China-Hong 
Kong Photo Products Holdings Ltd, the 
distributor of Fuji Films in Hong Kong and 
China, and Convenience Retail Asia Ltd, 
the franchisee of Circle K stores in Hong 
Kong and China, both being publicly 
listed companies in Hong Kong. Malcolm 
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Chemical Engineering and a Master of 
Science degree in Food Science both 
from the University of Wisconsin, USA 
and a Master of Business Administration 
degree from the University of Toronto, 
Canada. 

IAN SPENCE 
Independent Director 

Ian Spence was appointed to our Board as 
an Independent Director on 2 December 
2002. He is a New Zealander, a permanent 
resident of Singapore. He is currently an 
Independent Director of several private 
and public companies in Singapore. Ian is 
a Chartered Accountant and a commerce 
graduate from Otago University, New 
Zealand. 
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Will Hoon
President

Will Hoon joined the Group in April 2007.  
He is responsible for the development and 
implementation of the strategy and the direction 
and management of the operations of the 
Group.  He holds a degree in science from 
the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and 
completed graduate research at the University of 
Cambridge (Trinity College).  He was previously 
Executive Chairman of Foodstar Holdings and 
Executive Vice President of Transpac Capital.  
He was also Managing Director and Head of 
Private Equity at the Crosby Group.  He has 
worked for Bain & Company, following his 
employment with the Boston Consulting Group.  
His broad range of geographic experience 
includes working in 10 countries in Asia.  He has 
substantial expertise within the healthcare and 
consumer products industries.  The role he has 
played in operations spans the entire functional 
gamut, including marketing, sales, distribution, 
fi nance and production.

KF Tan
Chief Financial Offi cer & Company Secretary

 
KF Tan joined the Group in April 2004. He is 
responsible for Group fi nance & sourcing, IT, 
legal and corporate secretarial functions. Before 
joining us, he was the Managing Director of 
Nextec Applications Pte Ltd and was responsible 
for fi nance and operations for about four years. 
Prior to his tenure at Nextec, he spent 11 years
with NatSteel Chemicals Ltd and his last held 
position was General Manager. He sat on more
than 10 board seats in Singapore, Malaysia, 

Indonesia and China on behalf of NatSteel 
Chemicals.  KF is an associate member of The 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales, and also a CPA with The Institute of 
Certifi ed Public Accountants of Singapore and 
The Malaysia Institute of Accountants.

Dr Patrick Loh
Senior Vice President, Technology

Dr Patrick Loh joined us in June 2007. He 
is responsible for the Group’s development 
and management for product quality and bio-
technological advances. Patrick currently also 
holds appointments as adjunct professor at two 
university institutions, the Western Australian 
State Agricultural Biotechnology Center 
(SABC), Murdoch University, and the Singapore 
Management University (SMU). In addition, he 
is the Agri-Advisor to the Agri-Food & Veterinary 
Authority of Singapore (AVA.) He is a qualifi ed 
Member of the Institute of Horticulture (MIHort), 
the Institute of Leisure & Amenity Management 
(MILAM) in the United Kingdom and the Australian 
Institute of Agricultural Science & Technology 
(AIAST) and a Certifi ed Practising Agriculturist 
(CPAg) of Australia and New Zealand. Patrick 
received his doctoral research training in plant 
virology and tissue culture technology from 
the Institute of Arable Crops Research, United 
Kingdom and a Master’s degree in Business 
Administration from the University of Dubuque, 
USA.

HEAD OFFICE - Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (EYSI)
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Chin Gek Mei
Vice President, Australia

Chin Gek Mei joined the company in October 
2006. She is responsible to manage and oversee 
the medical centres of YourHealth Group in 
Australia. She has extensive experience in 
consumer marketing and product management 
within fi nancial and retail institutions. Besides 
spearheading initiatives in customer relationship
management across cross segments of 
customers, she had set-up new departments 
in customer retention, telemarketing and direct 
marketing. In addition to scoping and developing 
different distribution channels, Gek Mei had 
formulated directions within brand and service 
quality management across touch points with 
customers. She graduated with a Bachelor of 
Science (Honours) in Actuarial Science from the 
University of Western Ontario, Canada. 

Dawn Lee
Vice President, Product Marketing 

Dawn Lee joined us in May 2005. She is 
responsible for developing marketing strategies 
to support the expansion of the Group’s business, 
new product management and development, 
market research and customer retention 
programs. Dawn has 17 years of diverse 
marketing and sales experience in consumer 
products with MNCs such as 3M, Quaker Oats, 
Sara Lee and SmithKline Beecham. She holds 
a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration 
from the National University of Singapore. 

Caryn Peh
Vice President, Care Delivery

 
Caryn Peh joined the Group in August 2005. She 
is responsible for developing the Group’s clinic 
business (both Traditional Chinese Medicine 
and Integrative Medicine) globally. Prior to 
joining us, she was the General Manager for 
Singapore’s largest private and non-hospital 
based clinical laboratory, Quest Laboratories. 
She has prior healthcare and consumer 
experiences in Singapore, China and Vietnam. 
They include training, sales, marketing and 
senior management responsibilities for Wyeth 
Pharmaceuticals and Mars, Inc. Caryn obtained 
her Masters of Business Administration from 
the University of Leicester, U.K. and Bachelor 
of Business Administration from the National 
University of Singapore. 

Joanna Wong
Vice President, Brand Management and  Corporate 
Communications

Joanna Wong joined the Group in March 2000. 
Her main responsibilities are to direct the Group’s 
external communication programmes including 
investors’ relations and public relations. She is 
responsible for the Group’s corporate affairs, 
sponsorships and marketing events.  She also 
directs brand management and communication 
programmes in new markets as the company 
expands regionally. Joanna had extensive 
communications and marketing experience in 
luxury FMCG products in the SE Asian region. 
She holds a Master of Arts in Communication 
Management from the University of South 
Australia.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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HONG KONG
Eu Yan Sang (Hong Kong) Limited (EYSHK)

Alice Wong
Managing Director (EYSHK) & Senior Vice President 
(EYSI)

Alice Wong joined us in 1993.   She is responsible for 
the overall performance and operation of EYSHK.  In 
September 2005, she was appointed as a member 
of the Chinese Medicines Board under the Chinese 
Medicines Council of Hong Kong, HKSARG for 
a three-year term.  In September 2006, she was 
appointed as a member of the Consultative Council of 
the School of Chinese Medicine, Hong Kong Baptist 
University for a term of two years.  Since May 2006, 
she has been serving as Vice Chairperson of Hong 
Kong Chinese Medicine Manufacturers’ Association 
with a term expiring in May 2008.  Prior to joining us, 
Alice had over fi fteen years working experience as 
an accountant in both Hong Kong and transnational 
companies.  She holds a Master of Arts Degree 
in Communication Management from University 
of South Australia and a Diploma in Business 
Administration from Wigan & Leigh College, UK.

William Sung
General Manager, Finance and Administration 

William Sung  joined us in 1997. He was responsible 
for the fi nancial and IT matters until he has 
been retitled as General Manager, Finance and 
Administration in July 2006. He has the added 
responsibility of overseeing the administration and 
human resources matters of the Hong Kong group 
including its subsidiaries in the Mainland China and 
Macau.  William is a member of both the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants and the 
Association of Chartered Certifi ed Accountants. 

Ella Lee
Deputy General Manager,  Sales and Marketing 

Ella Lee joined the company in 1995. She 
is responsible for the sales and marketing 
activities of EYSHK which includes the retail and 
wholesales business units. In addition, she also 
spearheads the Hong Kong’s customer loyalty 
programme. Ella holds a Masters of Science 
in Marketing from the Chinese University of 
Hong Kong, a Bachelor of Social Sciences and 
a Postgraduate Diploma in Marketing from the 
University of Hong Kong. 

Kim Wu
Senior Manager, Factory Operations

Kim Wu joined us in October 2000. He is 
responsible for the overall factory operation and 
quality control. He holds a Bachelor Degree in 
Chemistry and a Master Degree in Biotechnology 
from Hong Kong University of Science and 
Technology.  He currently holds the Chartered 
Biologist status (CBiol MIBiol) from Institute 
of Biology and the Chartered Chemist status 
from The Royal Australian Chemical Institute 
Incorporated  (MRACI CChem).

MALAYSIA
Eu Yan Sang (1959) Sdn Bhd (EYSM)

Lok Eng Hock
Managing Director (EYSM) & Senior Vice President 
(EYSI)

Lok Eng Hock joined us in 1982. He is responsible 
for the overall performance, business and 
manufacturing operations of EYSM and Weng 
Li Sdn. Bhd. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
degree from the then Nanyang University, 
Singapore.
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Eric Chiu
General Manager

Eric Chiu joined us in 1996. He is presently 
responsible for the overall performance of Weng 
Li Sdn. Bhd. and is responsible for assisting 
in the overall trading operation of EYSM. Eric 
holds a Master of Business Administration 
degree from Maastricht School of Management 
(MSM), the Netherlands. He is a member of both 
The Malaysia Institute of Accountants and CPA 
Australia.

Wong Kah Cane
Assistant General Manager

Wong Kah Cane re-joined us in April 2006. 
Currently, he is responsible for assisting the 
implementation and development of strategic 
sales and marketing plan for EYSM. He holds 
a Bachelor of Business Administration from 
University of Malaya, Malaysia.

SINGAPORE
Eu Yan Sang Singapore Pte Ltd (EYSS)

Vincent Lim
Managing Director (EYSS) & Senior Vice President 
(EYSI)

Vincent Lim joined us in March 2003. He is 
responsible for the overall business, operations 
and performance of EYSS. In addition, Vincent 
also manages the business operations of Yin 
Yang Spa Products Pte Ltd. Vincent has many 
years of management experience in the food 
& beverage, retail, health products and service 
industries, both locally and overseas. Vincent 
holds a Bachelor of Business Administration 
degree from the Royal Melbourne Institute of 
Technology, Australia.

Eraine Foo
Assistant General Manager, Sales

Eraine Foo joined us in August 2002.  She is 
responsible for the sales operations of EYSS.  
Prior to joining us, she had more than 15 years 
in retail industry dealing with high fashions and 
brand management. She holds a Master of 
Business Administration degree from the The 
University of Northumbria, Newcastle, UK.

Wee Chin Lian
Assistant General Manager, Finance

Wee Chin Lian joined us in February 2006.  He 
is responsible for the fi nancial management of 
EYSS.  Prior to joining us, he had more than 10 
years experience in retail industry dealing with 
health food and health supplements.  He is a 
fellow member of both The Institute of Certifi ed 
Public Accountants of Singapore (ICPAS) 
and The Association of Chartered Certifi ed 
Accountants (ACCA).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Eu Yan Sang (Singapore) Private Limited

Eu Realty (Singapore) Private Limited

Eu Yan Sang Marketing Private Limited

Eu Yan Sang Integrative Health Pte Ltd

Yin Yang Spa Products Pte Ltd

Red White & Pure Pte Ltd 

EYS KangHong Herbal Pte Ltd

Eu Yan Sang (1959) Sdn. Berhad

Weng Li Sdn. Bhd.

Eu Yan Sang Heritage Sdn. Bhd.

Eu Yan Sang Integrative Health Sdn.Bhd.          
             

(Formerly known as Degree Achievement 
Sdn. Bhd.)

Eu Yan Sang (Hong Kong) Limited

Eu Yan Sang Medical Services Limited

Eu Yan Sang (Australia) Pty Ltd

YourHealth Group Pty Ltd

MALAYSIA

YourHealth 
Camberwell Pty  Limited

AUSTRALIA

HONG KONG

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
79%

100%100%50%

GROUP STRUCTURE

Eu Yan Sang International Ltd

SINGAPORE
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Orion Health Pty 
Limited

YourHealth Carina Pty 
Limited



EYS Ventures Pte Ltd

INDONESIA

PRC

THAILAND

USA

TAIWAN

RWP Food Services Pte Ltd

PT EYS Ventures Indonesia

Hua Sheng He Enterprise

Eu Yan Sang (Thailand) Ltd

Botanical Health Resources Inc

Eu Yan Sang (Taiwan) Co. Ltd

Vistern Health Sdn. Bhd

Eu Yan Sang (Properties) Limited

Eu Yan Sang (China Ventures) Limited

Top Lot Limited

Eu Yan Sang (Export) Limited

Supreme Bottled Bird’s Nest Co. Ltd

Aroma Fresh Pty Limited

Eu Yan Sang Trading (Guangdong) 
Co. Ltd

Eu Yan Sang (Macau) Ltd

PRC

100% 100%

100%

99%

50%

79%

100%

100%

75%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

51%

100%

95%

1%

GROUP STRUCTURE

100%

MACAU
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YourHealth Edgecliff Pty 
Limited

YourHealth Manly Pty 
Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee
Non-Executive Chairman

Richard Yee Ming Eu
Group CEO

Clifford Yee Fong Eu
Managing Director

Leslie Kim Loong Mah
Executive Director

Malcolm Man-Chung Au
Independent Director

Robert James Yee Sang Eu
Non-Executive Director

Ian Wayne Spence
Independent Director

Dr David Yee Tat Eu
(alternate to Richard Eu)

Laurence Yee Lye Eu
(alternate to Clifford Eu)

Billy Wah Yan Ma
(alternate to Robert Eu)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ian Wayne Spence
Chairman

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee
Malcolm Man-Chung Au

STRATEGIC DIRECTION 
COMMITTEE

Robert James Yee Sang Eu
Chairman

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee
Malcolm Man-Chung Au

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Ian Wayne Spence
Chairman

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee
Malcolm Man-Chung Au

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee
Chairman

Ian Wayne Spence
Robert James Yee Sang Eu

COMPANY SECRETARIES

KF Tan, ACA 
Sebastian Tan, FCCA

REGISTERED OFFICE

269A, South Bridge Road
Singapore 058818
tel  : (65) 6225 3211
fax  : (65) 6225 8276

SHARE REGISTRARS

Lim Associates (Pte) Ltd
3 Church Street
#08-01 Samsung Hub
Singapore 049483
tel  : (65) 6536 5355
fax  : (65) 6536 1360

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young
One Raffl es Quay
North Tower, Level 18
Singapore 048583

Audit Partner-in-charge: 
Daniel Soh
Appointment Date:
(since fi nancial year ended 
30 June 2005)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bangkok Bank 
Public Company Limited
180 Cecil Street, 
Bangkok Bank Building
Singapore 069546

The Development Bank
of Singapore Ltd
6 Shenton Way,
DBS Building, Tower One
Singapore 068809

Public Bank Berhad
Menara Public Bank
146 Jalan Ampang,
50450 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia

Rabobank International
77 Robinson Road #09-00
SIA Building
Singapore 068896

Standard Chartered Bank
13th Floor, 
Standard Chartered Tower
388 Kwun Tong Road, 
Kwun Tong
Hong Kong

United Overseas Bank Limited
1 Raffl es Place, OUB Centre
Singapore 048616

CORPORATE DATA
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THE GROUP’S NETWORK

SINGAPORE
Ang Mo Kio Hub
Ang Mo Kio Town Centre
Bedok Central
Bukit Batok West Mall 
Bt Panjang Plaza
Causeway Point, Woodlands
Centrepoint
Changi Airport Terminal 1
Changi Airport Terminal 2
Changi Airport Terminal 3
Clifford Centre, Raffl es Place
Compass Point, Seng Kang
Great World City
Hougang Mall 
ICON Village, Gopeng Street 
IMM, Jurong East
Jurong East
Jurong Point, Jurong West
Lorong Ah Soo, Hougang
Lot 1, Choa Chu Kang
Mount Elizabeth Hospital
Ngee Ann City, Orchard Road 
Parkway Parade
Paragon, Orchard Road
Plaza Singapura
Raffl es City, North Bridge Road 
South Bridge Road
Square 2, Novena
Sun Plaza, Sembawang
Suntec City Mall 
Tampines Mall
Tangs, Orchard Road
The Central, Clarke Quay
Tiong Bahru Plaza
Toa Payoh
Vivo City
White Sands, Pasir Ris

HONG KONG
Hong Kong Island
Cityplaza, Taikoo Shing
King’s Centre, King’s Road
Kornhill Plaza (North), Quarry Bay
Queensway Plaza, Queensway
Queen’s Road Central
Russell Street, Causeway Bay
Shun Tak Centre, Sheung Wan
The Peak Tower, The Peak
Yee Wo Street, Causeway Bay

Kowloon
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui
China Hong Kong City, Tsimshatsui
Fu Yan Street, Kwun Tong
Grand Century Place, Mongkok
Hang Lung Mansion, Nathan Road
Lai Chi Kok Road, Shamshuipo
Langham Place, Mongkok
Nathan Road, Mongkok
Olympian City 2,West Kowloon
Peking Road, Tsimshatsui
Plaza Hollywood, Diamond Hill
Sham Shui Po MTR Station
Tak Man Street, Hunghom
Telford Plaza II, Telford
Whampoa Garden, Hunghom-Jusco

ProNature Counter –
Elements, Kowloon Station

EU YAN SANG’S RETAIL OUTLETS

New Territories
Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long
Discovery Park, Tsuen Wan
East Point City, Tseung Kwan O
Hong Kong International Airport
Landmark North, Sheung Shui
Luk Yeung Galleria, Tsuen Wan
Ma On Shan Plaza, Mannings
Maritime Square, Tsing Yi
Metro City Plaza II, Tseung Kwan O
Sunshine City Plaza-Mannings
Shatin Plaza, Shatin
Tai Po Mega Mall-Mannings
Tsuen Kam Centre, Tsuen Wan
Tsuen Wan Plaza, Tsuen Wan
Tuen Mun Town Plaza, Phase 1
Uptown Plaza, Tai Po

MACAU
Avenida De Almeida Ribeiro, Macau

PRC, GUANGZHOU
Citi Plaza, Tianne North Road
Friendship Store, Huan Shi Road

MALAYSIA
Penang Island
Chulia Street
Gurney Plaza,  Persiaran Gurney
Jusco, Queensbay Mall
Sunway Carnival, Butterworth
Sunshine Square Complex, Bayan Lepas
Tesco, Jelutung

Perak
Fajar, Teluk Intan
Jalan Bandar Timah, Ipoh
Jalan Idris, Kampar
Jusco, Kinta City Shopping Centre, Ipoh
Tesco, Taiping

Kuala Lumpur
Carrefour, Endah Parade, Sri Petaling
Carrefour, Kepong
Cheras Leisuremall, Taman Segar
Mid Point Shopping Centre, Pandah Indah
Lucky Plaza, Jalan Klang Lama
Jusco, Alpha Angle Shopping Complex
Jusco, Metro Prima, Kepong
Jusco, Taman Maluri
Mid Valley Megamall
Shaw Parade, Changkat Thambi Dollah
Tesco Cheras

Selangor
Bukit Raja Shopping Centre
Giant Hypermarket Klang
IOI Mall, Bandar Puchong Jaya
Jusco, Cheras Selatan, Belakong
Jusco, One Utama Shopping Centre
Jusco, Taman Equine Shopping Centre
SS2, Petaling Jaya
Selayang Mall, Batu Caves
Summit USJ
Taipan, UEP, Subang Jaya
Tesco, Puchong
Sunway Pyramid, Petaling Jaya

Negeri Sembilan
Jalan Dato’ Bandar Tunggal
Jusco, Seremban 2 Shopping Centre

Melaka
Jusco, Melaka Shopping Centre
Tesco, Melaka

Pahang
Jalan Air Putih, Kuantan
Giant Hypermarket, Kuantan

Johor
Carrefour Shopping Centre, Pandan
Fajar Bandar Penggaram, Batu Pahat
Jalan Ali, Muar
Jalan Dedap 13, Taman Johor Jaya
Jusco Desa Tebrau
Jalan Sutera, Taman Sentosa
Jusco Permas Jaya Shopping Centre

Sarawak
Everrise Departmental Store, Kuching
Jalan Tunku Abdul Rahman, Kuching
Sing Kwong Shopping Mall, Sibu

SPECIALIST TCM CENTRES /
TCM CLINICS / LIFESTYLE CLINIC 

Specialist TCM Centres
SINGAPORE
• Camden Medical Centre
• Paragon
• Paragon (TCM Centre for Reproductive Health)

TCM Clinics
SINGAPORE
• Ang Mo Kio
• Bedok 
• Bukit Batok
• Hougang
• Jurong East
• Jurong Medical Centre
• Plaza Singapura
• South Bridge Road
• Tampines
• Tiong Bahru
• Toa Payoh
 • Yishun

Lifestyle Clinic
SINGAPORE
• Vivo City

MALAYSIA
Kuala Lumpur
• Shaw Parade, Changkat Thambi Dollah

Negeri Sembilan
• Seremban, Jalan Dato’ Bandar Tunggal

Pulau Pinang
• Lebuh Chulia

YourHealth Integrative Medicine Centres
AUSTRALIA
• Camberwell, Melbourne
• Carina, Brisbane
• Manly, Sydney
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EU YAN SANG GROUP

CORPORATE OFFICE

EU YAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
269A South Bridge Road
Singapore 058818
tel : (65) 6225 3211 
fax : (65) 6225 8276
website : www.euyansang.com

OUR SUBSIDIARIES

AUSTRALIA

EU YAN SANG AUSTRALIA PTY LTD
Unit 2, 3 Green Street
Brookvale NSW 2100
Australia
tel : (612) 9939 8122  
fax : (612) 9939 7122
website : www.yourhealth.com.au

SINGAPORE

EU YAN SANG INTEGRATIVE HEALTH PTE LTD
269A South Bridge Road
Singapore 058818
Singapore
tel : (65) 6225 3211 
fax : (65) 6225 8276
email : healing@euyansang.com  
website : www.ihealth.com.sg 

EU YAN SANG MARKETING PRIVATE LIMITED
269A South Bridge Road
Singapore 058818
Singapore
tel : (65) 6225 3211  
fax : (65) 6225 8276

EU YAN SANG (SINGAPORE) PRIVATE LIMITED
151 Lorong Chuan, #05-05/06
New Tech Park, Lobby E
Singapore 556741
Singapore
tel : (65) 6749 8830 
fax : (65) 6749 8692
email : info@euyansang.com.sg

HONG KONG

EU YAN SANG (HONG KONG) LIMITED
Eu Yan Sang Centre
10 Wang Lee Street, Yuen Long Industrial Park
Yuen Long, New Territories
Hong Kong
tel : (852) 2544 3268 
fax : (852) 2850 6785
email : info@euyansang.com.hk

MACAU

EU YAN SANG (MACAU) LIMITED
Avenida de Almeida Ribeiro
No. 48, Macau
People’s Republic of China
tel : (853) 2838 9370 
fax : (853) 2838 9371

MALAYSIA

EU YAN SANG (1959) SENDIRIAN BERHAD (3544P)
No. L2-01 & L2-12, 2nd Floor, Shaw Parade
Changkat Thambi Dollah
55100 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia
tel : (603) 2116 8200
fax : (603) 2116 8201
email : info@euyansang.com.my

WENG LI SDN BHD (053874-D)
4 Persiaran 1/118C, Fasa 2, 
Desa Tun Razak Industrial Park,
56000, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
tel : (603) 9173 1984 / (603) 9173 1986
fax : (603) 9173 1987
email : info@wengli.com.my

PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA

EU YAN SANG TRADING (GUANGDONG) CO. LTD.
Rm 1606, 16/F North Tower 
Guangzhou World Trade Centre
371-375 Huan Shi Dong Road
Guangzhou
People’s Republic of China
tel/fax : (20) 8760 1063

TAIWAN

EU YAN SANG (TAIWAN) LTD.
1F, No 67, TianMu East Road, Taipei City , Taiwan
tel : 886-2-2874 7593
fax : +886-2-2874 1548

THAILAND

EU YAN SANG (THAILAND) LIMITED
101/15 Moo 2, Saimai Road
Soi 38, Khet Saimai,
Bangkok 1022D
Thailand
tel : (662) 996 4090
fax : (662) 996 4094 
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The Board of Eu Yan Sang International Limited (“the Board”) is committed to maintaining a high stand-
ard of corporate governance to ensure greater transparency and to protect the interest of the Company’s 
shareholders. 

This report describes the corporate governance principles applied by the Company with specifi c reference 
to the Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”). References to the principles of the Code are listed 
below:

PRINCIPLE 1: BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

The principal functions of the Board are:

(1) to provide entrepreneurial leadership and approve the broad policies, strategies and financial 
objectives of the Company and monitoring the performance of Management;

(2) to ensure that the necessary financial and human resources are in place for the Company to meet its 
objectives;

(3) to oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, financial reporting and 
compliance;

(4) to approve the appointment of directors to the Board and the appointment of key personnel;
(5) to approve annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment and divestment proposals;  
(6) to assume responsibility for corporate governance; and
(7) to set the Company’s values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and others 

are understood and met.

Matters which are specifi cally referred to the Board for decision are those involving approval of accounts 
and results announcements, dividend payments or other returns to shareholders, corporate or fi nancial 
restructuring and share issuance, material acquisitions and disposal of assets.

The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened 
when circumstances require. The Company’s Articles of Association provide for meetings by means of 
conference telephone.  The attendance of the directors at meetings of the Board and Board committees, 
and the frequency of these meetings for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007 is disclosed as follows.

Directors’ Attendance At Board & Committee Meetings

Name

Eu Yan Sang 

Board

Audit 

Committee

Compensation 

Committee

Nominating 

Committee

Strategic 

Direction 
Committee

No of 

Mtgs 

Held

No of 

Mtgs 

Atten’d

No of 

Mtgs 

Held

No of 

Mtgs

Atten’d

No of 

Mtgs 

Held

No of 

Mtgs 

Atten’d

No of 

Mtgs 

Held

No of 

Mtgs 

Atten’d

No of 

Mtgs 

Held

No of 

Mtgs 

Atten’d

Joseph William Yee Eu #1 4 3 - - - - 3 2 5 3

Richard Yee Ming Eu 4 4 - - - - - - - -

Clifford Yee Fong Eu 4 4 - - - - - - - -

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee #2 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 3 5 1

Ian Wayne Spence 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 3 - -

Robert James Yee Sang Eu 4 4 - - 3 3 - - 5 5

Malcolm Man Chung Au #3 4 4 4 4 - - 3 - 5 5

Leslie Kim Loong Mah 4 4 - - - - - - - -

#1 Joseph William Yee Eu, demised on 31.03.2007
#2 Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee was appointed to the Strategic Direction Committee on 18.05.2007
#3 Malcolm Man Chung Au was appointed to the Nominating Committee on 18.05.2007
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The Company provides facilities such as the conduct of internal courses for the directors to meet their 
training needs. The new directors are also given orientation on the Group’s businesses. The Company 
adopts a policy whereby directors are encouraged to request for further explanations, briefi ngs or informal 
discussions on the Company’s operations or business with the management.

PRINCIPLE 2: BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

The Board currently has seven (7) directors, comprising three (3) independent, one (1) non-independent 
and non-executive directors and three (3) executive directors.  Information regarding each Board member 
is provided under the Board of Directors section.

The Board comprises directors who as a group provide core competencies such as accounting or fi nance, 
business or management experience, industry knowledge and strategic planning experience. To assist 
in the execution of its responsibilities and to comply with the requirements, the Board has established 
sub-committees: an Audit Committee, a Nominating Committee, a Strategic Direction Committee and a 
Compensation Committee, under which the Employees Share Option Scheme Committee functions as 
a sub-committee.  These committees function within clearly defi ned terms of reference and operating 
procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. The effectiveness of each committee is also constantly 
monitored.

The Board’s structure, size and composition is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee (“NC”). 
The NC is of the view that the current size of the Board is appropriate to facilitate effective decision making, 
taking into account the nature and scope of the Group’s operations. As more than 1/3rd of the Board is 
independent, the NC is satisfi ed that the Board has substantial independent elements to ensure that 
objective judgment be exercised on corporate affairs.

PRINCIPLE 3: ROLE OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has a non-executive director serving as Chairman and an executive director serving as CEO. 
The CEO is the most senior executive in the Company and bears executive responsibility for the Company’s 
business, while the Chairman bears responsibility for the workings of the Board. The Chairman and the 
CEO are not related, and the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO are clear.

The Chairman ensures that board meetings are held when necessary and sets the board agenda in 
consultation with the CEO. The Chairman reviews most board papers before they are submitted to the 
Board and ensures that all Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely information. 
As a rule, board papers are sent to directors approximately seven days in advance for directors to be 
adequately prepared for the meetings.

The CEO executes decisions taken by the Board and is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the 
Company. The CEO presides over a Management Committee (“MC”) consisting of the executive directors 
and Group General Managers. In setting the business direction of the Company, the MC convenes meetings 
as and when necessary to review the Group’s operational performance and evaluate new projects and 
investment opportunities. In line with good corporate governance principles, the Board had also set up a 
Strategic Direction Committee, comprising two (2) non-executive independent directors and one (1) non-
executive non-independent director. The primary role of this committee is to assist the CEO in setting the 
direction of the Group’s business as it has gone beyond the region to join the league of global business.
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PRINCIPLE 4: BOARD MEMBERSHIP
PRINCIPLE 5: BOARD PERFORMANCE

Nominating Committee
The members of the Nominating Committee (“NC”) are as follows:

(1) Ian Wayne Spence (Chairman) (Independent)
(2) Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Independent)
(3) Malcolm Man Chung Au (Independent) – appointed on 18.05.2007

The Chairman is not, or is not directly associated with, a substantial shareholder.

The NC’s principal functions are:

(1) to identify candidates and review all nominations for the appointment or re-appointment of members 
of the Board of Directors; the Chief Executive Officer of the Company; members of the various Board 
committees, for the purpose of proposing such nominations to the Board for its approval;

(2) to set criteria for identifying candidates and reviewing nominations for the appointments referred to 
in paragraph 1;

(3) to determine annually the independence of the directors. If the NC determines that a director is 
independent, notwithstanding that he has one or more of the relationships (as set forth in Guidance 
Note 2.1 of the Code), it will disclose in full the nature of the director’s relationship and bear 
responsibility for considering him independent;

(4) to decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria 
for the Board’s approval; 

(5) to decide whether a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his or her duties as a 
director of the Company particularly when the director has multiple board representations;

(6) to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and the contribution by each individual director 
to the effectiveness to the Board.

New directors are at present appointed by the Board, after the NC approves their appointment. Such new 
directors are required to submit themselves for re-election at the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the 
Company pursuant to Article 92 of the Company’s Articles of Association. Article 109 of the Articles of Association 
requires one third of the Board (other than the Managing Director) to retire by rotation at every AGM.

PRINCIPLE 6: ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfi ll its responsibilities, Management provides the Board 
with monthly fi nancial reports and quarterly management reports. The directors have also been provided 
with emails particulars and telephone numbers of the Company’s Group General Managers to facilitate 
access.

The Company Secretary attends all board meetings and is responsible to ensure that the Company 
complies with the statutory requirements of the Companies Act. Together with the management staff, the 
Company Secretary is responsible for compliance with all other rules and regulations that are applicable to 
the Company.
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In the furtherance of their duties, the directors may seek independent advice, if necessary, at the Company’s 
expense.

Changes to regulations and accounting standards are closely monitored by Management.  Directors are 
briefed either during Board meetings or by the Company Secretary of these changes especially where 
these changes have an important bearing on the Company’s or directors’ disclosure obligations.

PRINCIPLE 7: PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES
PRINCIPLE 8: LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
PRINCIPLE 9: DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

The members of the Compensation Committee (“CC”) are as follows:

(1) Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Chairman) (Independent)
(2) Ian Wayne Spence (Independent)
(3) Robert James Yee Sang Eu (Non-Executive) (Non-Independent)

CC’s principal responsibilities are to review the annual remuneration package of the executive directors 
and fees for Board members. The review covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to 
directors’ fees, salaries, bonuses and benefi ts in kind based on the performance of the Group and the 
individual. The recommendations are submitted to the Board for endorsement. 

The review of the remuneration of each senior management staff of the Group is not conducted by the CC 
but reviewed by the Group’s human resources department, in consultation with the CEO and the senior 
management. The review takes into consideration the performance and the contributions of the staff to the 
company and gives due regard to the fi nancial and business performance of that company. The Group 
seeks to offer a competitive level of remuneration to attract, motivate and retain senior management of the 
required competency to run the Group successfully.

The Company adopts a remuneration policy that comprises a fi xed as well as a variable component. The 
fi xed component is in a form of base salary and benefi ts while the variable component is in a form of 
performance bonus and grant of share options under the Company’s  Employees Share Option Scheme 
(“ESOS”). 

A sub-committee under the purview of the CC administers the ESOS and comprises:
 
(1) Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee
(2) Ian Wayne Spence
(3) Robert James Yee Sang Eu 
(4) Richard Yee Ming Eu

More details on the ESOS are provided in the Directors’ Report.

An executive director is paid a basic salary and a performance related bonus. Adjustments to the remunera-
tion package of an executive director are subject to review and approval by the Board of Directors. Under 
the terms of the agreement, the Chairman is paid a fl at fee and there is no performance-related element. 
Non-executive directors have no service contracts.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE



Annua l  Repor t  2007  35

(1)  Table shows breakdown of Directors’ Remuneration (in percentage terms)

Name of Directors
Remuneration 

Bands Salary Bonus
Directors 

Fee
Other 

Benefi ts* Total

$ % % % % %

Richard Yee Ming Eu 500,000 to 749,999 74 23 0 3 100

Clifford Yee Fong Eu 250,000 to 499,999 76 19 0 5 100

Leslie Kim Loong Mah 250,000 to 499,999 79 13 0 8 100

Robert James Yee Sang Eu 0 to 249,999 - - 100 - 100

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 0 to 249,999 - - 100 - 100

Ian Wayne Spence 0 to 249,999 - - 100 - 100

Malcolm Man Chung Au 0 to 249,999 - - 100 - 100

* excluding share options which are disclosed in Directors’ Report

(2)  Table shows the range of gross remuneration received by executives of the Group

 Number of executives of the Group in remuneration bands 2007 

 $250,000 to $499,999     7
 $100,000 to $249,999   15

 Total   22

(3)  No employee of the Company and its subsidiaries was an immediate family member of a Director or 
the CEO of the Company and whose remuneration exceeded S$150,000 during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2007.

PRINCIPLE 10: ACCOUNTABILITY
PRINCIPLE 14: COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
PRINCIPLE 15: GREATER SHAREHOLDER PARTICIPATION

The Company holds briefi ngs for the media and the analysts on its half-year and its full-year results. The 
results announcements are released through the SGXNET system and via news releases, and are also 
posted on the Company’s website. All material information relating to the Company is disseminated via 
SGXNET followed by a news release. All announcements, including the Annual Report, are available on 
the Group’s website at www.euyansang.com

The Company has an investor relation team headed by the Chief Executive Offi cer and assisted by 
the Chief Financial Offi cer whose function is to communicate with investors and attend to their queries. 
Shareholders of the Company receive the annual report and notice of AGM. At AGMs, shareholders are 
given the opportunity to ask the Management questions regarding the Company and to air their views. 

PRINCIPLE 11: AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three (3) independent directors.  They are as follows:

(1) Ian Wayne Spence (Chairman) (Independent)
(2) Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Independent)
(3) Malcolm Man Chung Au (Independent)
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During the year, the AC met with the Group’s external auditors and the internal auditors to review the audit 
plans and the reports of the external auditors and internal auditors. It had also evaluated the adequacy of 
the internal controls of the Company with the auditors and discussed their fi ndings with Management. The 
AC reviewed the quarterly (Q1, Half Year & Q3), half-year and full-year results announcements before their 
submission to the Board for approval.

The principal functions of the AC are:

(1) to review the audit plans and findings of the external auditors and internal auditors;
(2) to review the quarterly (Q1, Half Year & Q3), half-yearly and full year results announcement to 

ensure integrity of the financial statements and announcements prior to submission to the Board for 
approval and release;

(3) to evaluate the adequacy of the internal control systems of the Company by reviewing the written 
reports from the external auditors;

(4) to review the Company’s risk management processes;
(5) to review interested person  transactions, if any; 
(6) to review the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and 

objectivity of the external auditors annually; and
(7) to recommend to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor 

and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.

To create an environment for open discussion on audit matters, the AC meets with the external and internal 
auditors, without the presence of Management, at least once a year.

The AC has reviewed the non-audit services provided by the external auditors for FY2007 and is satisfi ed that 
such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. Accordingly, it has recommended 
the re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting.

The AC is authorized to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and has been given full access 
to and cooperation from Management to enable the committee to fulfi ll its responsibilities effectively. The 
AC has full discretion to invite any director or any executive to attend its meetings. It has also endorsed a 
whistle blowing policy whereby accessible channels are provided for employees to raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or other matters.

PRINCIPLE 12: INTERNAL CONTROLS
PRINCIPLE 13: INTERNAL AUDITS

The Company has outsourced its Internal Audit (“IA”) function to Deloitte & Touche. The scope of the 
internal audit is:

(1) to review the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls;
(2) to provide assurance that key business and operational risks are identified and managed;
(3) to determine that internal controls are in place and functioning as intended; and
(4) to evaluate that operations are conducted in an effective and efficient manner.

Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted during the internal audit and the 
recommendations thereof are reported to the Chairman of the AC as part of the review of the Group’s 
internal control system. For non-compliance of administrative matters, the matter is reported to the CEO. 
The AC reviews the Internal Auditor’s reports. To ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal 
audit function, the AC reviews the Internal Auditor’s scope of work on an annual basis. 
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Securities Transactions

The Company has issued a policy on securities dealing by offi cers of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(comprising directors and key personnel) in the form of a Code of Best Practices on Securities Dealings 
(“the Code”) to govern and regulate transactions relating to securities of the Company. The Code was 
based on the best practices guide on dealings in securities  issued by the SGX-ST and has been circulated 
to all relevant parties.

Under the Code, offi cers are prohibited from dealing in securities of the Company on short term considerations 
and during the  four (4) weeks before the announcements of the Company’s results till the day after the 
release of such announcements.

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests of any directors 
or controlling shareholders subsisting as at the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”) and the balance sheet of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2007.

Directors 

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are :-

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Chairman) 
Richard Yee Ming Eu (Group CEO)
Clifford Yee Fong Eu (Managing Director)
Leslie Kim Loong Mah (Executive Director)
Robert James Yee Sang Eu
Ian Wayne Spence 
Malcolm Man-Chung Au 
Dr David Yee Tat Eu (alternate to Richard Yee Ming Eu)
Laurence Yee Lye Eu (alternate to Clifford Yee Fong Eu)
Billy Wah Yan Ma (alternate to Robert James Yee Sang Eu)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Except as described below, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year was the Company 
a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the Directors of the 
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any 
other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

The following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register of the 
Directors’ shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, 
an interest in shares and share options of the Company, (other than wholly owned subsidiaries) as stated 
below :-
  Direct interest Deemed interest
Name of director  At 1.7.2006 At 30.6.2007 At 1.7.2006 At 30.6.2007

The Company
Ordinary shares 
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 125,000 125,000 –   –  
Richard Yee Ming Eu –   –   52,945,143 52,945,143
Clifford Yee Fong Eu 7,190,743 7,190,743 78,739,267 78,739,267
Robert James Yee Sang Eu –   –   27,463,535 26,463,535
Dr David Yee Tat Eu 11,523,806 11,523,806 –   –  
Laurence Yee Lye Eu 1,875,000 1,875,000 68,739,267 68,739,267
Billy Wah Yan Ma –   –   31,187,107 28,805,845
    
Options to subscribe for ordinary shares 
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee –   80,000   
Richard Yee Ming Eu 530,000 530,000   
Clifford Yee Fong Eu 475,000 475,000   
Leslie Kim Loong Mah 362,500 587,500   
Ian Wayne Spence –   80,000   
Malcolm Man-Chung Au –   80,000  
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As at 21 July 2007, the interest of Clifford Yee Fong Eu comprised 4,190,743 shares (direct) and 81,739,267 
shares (deemed). Except as disclosed above, there were no changes in the interests of directors between 
the end of the financial year and 21 July 2007. 

Except as disclosed in this report, no Directors who held office at the end of the financial year had an 
interest in shares, share options or debentures of the Company, or any of the subsidiaries of the Company 
at the beginning of the financial year, or at the end of the financial year.  

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, Clifford Yee Fong Eu and Laurence Yee 
Lye Eu are deemed to have interest in the subsidiaries of the Company.

Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no Director 
of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the 
Company or a related corporation with the Director, or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with 
a Company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors.  The members of the Audit 
Committee at the date of this report are :

Ian Wayne Spence (Chairman)
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 
Malcolm Man-Chung Au 

The Audit Committee (“AC”) carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore 
Companies Act, Cap. 50, including the following:

• Reviews the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Company and ensures the 
adequacy of the Company’s system of accounting controls and the co-operation given by the 
Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

• Reviews the quarterly and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on the annual financial 
statements of the Company before their submission to the board of directors;

• Reviews effectiveness of the Company’s material internal controls, including financial, operational 
and compliance controls and risk management via reviews carried out by the internal auditors;

• Meets with the external auditors, other committees, and management in separate executive sessions 
to discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

• Reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, 
related compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators;

• Reviews the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

• Reviews the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

• Recommends to the board of directors the external auditors to be nominated, approves the 
compensation of the external auditors, and reviews the scope and results of the audit;
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• Reports actions and minutes of the AC to the board of directors with such recommendations as the 
AC considers appropriate; and

• Reviews interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)’s Listing Manual.

The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied 
that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. The 
AC has also conducted a review of interested person transactions.

The AC convened four meetings during the year with full attendance from all members. The AC has also 
met with internal and external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once 
a year.

Further details regarding the audit committee are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Employees Share Option Scheme

The Eu Yan Sang Employees Share Option Scheme (“EYS ESOS 2000”) was approved by the shareholders 
at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 3 July 2000. The EYS ESOS 2000 was granted to executive 
directors, executives, and other employees of the Group and associated companies.

Options had been granted under EYS ESOS 2000 (excluding lapsed options) in respect of a total of 7,021,000 
shares, of which options to subscribe for 4,552,500 shares remain outstanding. No further options may be 
granted under EYS ESOS 2000 as it has lapsed on 30 June 2006.

Following the lapse of EYS ESOS 2000, the Company has implemented a share option scheme for 
executives, directors and other employees, in the form of the Eu Yan Sang Employee Share Option Scheme 
2006 (“EYS ESOS 2006”), which was approved by the shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting 
on 27 October 2006.

Under the EYS ESOS 2006, the options will have exercise prices that set at Market Price, being a price 
equal to the average of the last dealt prices for the shares on the SGX-ST for the 5 consecutive market days 
immediately preceding the relevant date of grant for which there was trading in the shares on the SGX-ST 
and may be exercised after twelve (12) months from the date of grant.

The EYS ESOS 2006 is administered by a committee comprising Richard Yee Ming Eu, Dr Jennifer Gek 
Choo Lee, Ian Wayne Spence and Robert James Yee Sang Eu, all of whom are Directors of the Company. 
The Committee has power to determine, inter alia, the persons to be granted options, the number of options 
to be granted, whether options granted continue to be valid in the event of cessation of employment or 
appointment of a selected person, the exercise price and any adjustments thereon and recommendations 
for modifications to the EYS ESOS 2006.

During the current financial year, the Company granted options to executive directors, executives and other 
employees of the Group to subscribe for 2,620,000 shares in the Company at an exercise price of $0.683 
per share pursuant to EYS ESOS 2006.

Unissued shares under options

During the financial year, 80,000 shares under EYS ESOS 2000 were issued by virtue of an exercise of 
option to take up unissued shares of the Company.

No shares under EYS ESOS 2006 were issued as at the end of the financial year.
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At the end of the financial year, unissued shares of the Company under the options were as follows:

  Number of share 
Date of grant options outstanding Exercise price per share Exercisable periods
   $ 
EYS ESOS 2000
18.03.2002 - 0.224 18.03.2003 to 17.03.2012
31.03.2003 475,000 0.280 31.03.2004 to 30.03.2013
31.03.2003 412,500 0.212 31.03.2004 to 30.03.2013
15.12.2005 3,665,000 0.534 15.12.2006 to 14.12.2015 
  4,552,500   
EYS ESOS 2006
13.11.2006 2,620,000 0.683 13.11.2007 to 12.11.2016 

The information on directors participating in the option schemes and employees who receive 5 percent or 
more of the total number of options available under the option schemes are as follows:

Name

Aggregate 
options granted 

during the 
financial year

Aggregate 
options 

granted since 
commencement 

of the option 
schemes to 30 

June 2007

Aggregate 
options 

exercised since 
commencement 

of the option 
schemes to 30 

June 2007

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding as at 
30 June 2007

EYS ESOS 2000
Directors
Richard Yee Ming Eu - 530,000 - 530,000
Clifford Yee Fong Eu - 475,000 - 475,000
Leslie Kim Loong Mah - 362,500 - 362,500
Employees    
Alice Suet Ying Wong - 510,000 (310,000) 200,000
Eng Hock Lok  - 450,000 (250,000) 200,000

  - 2,327,500 (560,000) 1,767,500

EYS ESOS 2006
Directors
Leslie Kim Loong Mah 225,000 225,000 - 225,000
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 80,000 80,000 - 80,000
Ian Wayne Spence 80,000 80,000 - 80,000
Malcolm Man-Chung Au 80,000 80,000 - 80,000
Employees    
KF Tan  180,000 180,000 - 180,000
Alice Suet Ying Wong 180,000 180,000 - 180,000
Eng Hock Lok  180,000 180,000 - 180,000

     1,005,000 1,005,000 - 1,005,000
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Auditors

Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Richard Yee Ming Eu
Director

Clifford Yee Fong Eu
Director

Singapore
17 September 2007
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We, Richard Yee Ming Eu and Clifford Yee Fong Eu, being two of the Directors of Eu Yan Sang International 
Ltd (the “Company”), do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors :

(i)  the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated profit and loss account, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, and consolidated cash flow statement together with notes thereto are drawn up so 
as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 
2007 and the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year 
ended on that date, and 

(ii)  at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Richard Yee Ming Eu
Director

Clifford Yee Fong Eu
Director

Singapore
17 September 2007

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS 
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 102 which comprise the balance 
sheets of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2007, the statement of changes in equity, profit and 
loss account and cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are 
properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company 
as at 30 June 2007 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 
on that date; and 

(ii) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.  

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
17 September 2007

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the Members of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd
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  Note 2007 2006
   $’000 $’000
    (Restated)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
 

Revenue 3 191,464 170,356

Cost of sales  (96,630) (84,448)

Gross profit  94,834 85,908

Other operating income  5,368 3,602

Distribution and selling expenses  (58,975) (51,146)

Administrative expenses  (20,063) (17,266)

Other operating expenses  (732) (1,780)

Interest income 5 191  202

Interest expense 6 (939) (794)

Share of associated companies’ profit  –   2

Profit before taxation 4 19,684 18,728

Tax expense 7 (4,260) (4,008)

Profit after taxation  15,424 14,720

 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 8 

Loss from discontinued operations  (713) (299)

Profit for the year  14,711 14,421

Attributable to : 

Equity holders of the Company  14,720 14,431

Minority interest  (9) (10)

  14,711 14,421

Earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 10 

- Basic - continuing operations  4.28 4.09

- Basic - discontinued operations  (0.20) (0.08)

- Diluted - continuing operations  4.27 4.08

- Diluted - discontinued operations  (0.20) (0.08)

 

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the year ended 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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  Group Company
  Note 2007  2006  2007  2006
   $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 11 60,496 51,697 549 887
Investments in subsidiaries 12 –   –   21,180 21,965
Amount due from subsidiaries 22 –   –   15,427  12,777
Investments in associated 
  companies 13 –   –   15 –  
Long term investments  14 3,900 1,678 –   –  
Investment properties 15 8,437 6,035 –   –  
Goodwill 16 27 624 –   –  
Intangible assets 17 –   263 –   –  
Deferred tax assets 29 –   259 –   –  
  72,860 60,556 37,171 35,629
Current assets 
Property held for sale 18 554 –   –   –  
Inventories 19 38,931 33,301 –   –  
Trade receivables 20 9,245 7,203 –   –  
Other receivables 21 10,912 7,606 307 111
Prepaid expenses  1,385 525 407 42
Amounts due from subsidiaries 22 –   –   32,889 32,611
Amounts due from associates 23 41 –   41 53
Fixed bank deposits 24 2,711 8,650 –   –  
Cash and bank balances 24 12,789 8,070 550 377
  76,568 65,355 34,194 33,194
Current liabilities 
Bank overdraft 24 41 –   –   –  
Trade payables 25 13,929 9,662 –   –  
Other payables 25 12,370 9,251 2,160 1,416
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 26 21,097 21,363 20,997 18,670
Amounts due to subsidiaries 22 –   –   1,565 –  
Hire purchase creditors 27 144 213 75 120
Tax payable  2,709 3,880 18 19
  50,290 44,369 24,815 20,225
Net current assets  26,278 20,986 9,379 12,969
Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 26 4,000 –   4,000 –  
Long term loans from minority  
  shareholders of subsidiaries 28 59 183 –   –  
Hire purchase creditors 27 415 622 291 446
Deferred tax liabilities 30 3,361 1,464 18 18
Provision for long service payments  82 85 –   –  
  (7,917) (2,354) (4,309) (464)

  91,221 79,188 42,241 48,134

Equity attributable to equity
  holders of the Company 
Share capital 31 34,919 34,872 34,919 34,872
Reserves 32 56,156 44,316 7,322 13,262
  91,075 79,188 42,241 48,134
Minority interest  146 –   –   –

Total equity  91,221 79,188 42,241 48,134

BALANCE SHEETS 
as at 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)  

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 Attributable to equity holders of the Company 
         Foreign 
      Asset  Share currency 
     Share revaluation Capital options translation Revenue  Minority Total
     capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total interests equity
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2006 34,872 7,258 453 99 (4,447) 40,953 79,188 –   79,188

 

Effect of adopting FRS 40 –   (3,375) –   –   –   3,375 –   –   –  

Revaluation surplus –   5,745 –   –   –   –   5,745 –   5,745

Release upon disposal of building –   (1,407) –   –   –   1,713 306 –   306

Effect of exchange differences –   –   –   –   (1,907) –   (1,907) –   (1,907)

 

Net income/expenses recognised 

  directly in equity –   963 –   –   (1,907) 5,088 4,144 –   4,144

Profit for the year –   –   –   –   –   14,720 14,720 (9) 14,711

 

Total recognised income/expense

  for the year –   963 –   –   (1,907) 19,808 18,864 (9) 18,855

Shares issued pursuant to 

the exercise of share options 47 –   –   (4) –   –   43 –   43

Grant of share options to employees –   –   –   186 –   –   186 –   186

Dividends, net (Note 9) –   –   –   –   –   (7,206) (7,206) –   (7,206)

Contribution from minority 

shareholder of subsidiaries –   –   –   –   –   –   –   155 155

At 30 June 2007 34,919 8,221 453 281 (6,354) 53,555 91,075 146 91,221

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2007

 (In Singapore dollars)
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 Attributable to equity holders of the Company 
          Foreign 
       Asset  Share currency  
     Share Share revaluation Capital options translation Revenue  Minority Total
     capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total interests equity
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2005 14,330 20,098 3,152 453 –   (3,422) 32,148 66,759 12 66,771

 

Effect of adopting FRS 39 –   –   –   –   –   –   120 120 –   120

Revaluation surplus –   –   4,106 –   –   –   –   4,106 –   4,106

Net income recognised 

  directly in equity –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   (2) (2)

Effect of exchange differences –   –   –   –   –   (1,025) –   (1,025) –   (1,025)

 

Net income/expenses 

  recognised directly in equity –   –   4,106 –   –   (1,025) 120 3,201 (2) 3,199

Profit for the year –   –   –   –   –   –   14,431 14,431 (10) 14,421

 

Total recognised income/ 

  expense for the year –   –   4,106 –   –   (1,025) 14,551 17,632 (12) 17,620

Shares issued pursuant to the 

  exercise of share options 132 312 –   –   –   –   –   444 –   444

Grant of share options 

  to employees –   –   –   –   99  –   –   99 –   99

Bonus issue 3,591 (3,591) –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –  

Transfer from share 

  premium to share capital 16,819 (16,819) –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –  

Dividends, net (Note 9) –   –   –   –   –   –   (5,746) (5,746) –   (5,746)

At 30 June 2006 34,872 –   7,258 453 99 (4,447) 40,953 79,188 –   79,188

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2007

(In Singapore dollars)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 2007 2006
 $’000 $’000
  (Restated)

Cash flows from operating activities :  
Operating profit/(loss) before taxation and minority interest 
- from continued operations 19,684 18,728
- from discontinued operations (713) (150)
Adjustments for : 
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,409 6,364
  Depreciation of investment properties 18 8
  Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,426) (58)
  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary –   (3,141)
  Gain on disposal of interest in subsidiary (15) –  
  Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,219) (1,321)
  Property, plant and equipment written off 101 11
  Gain on disposal of Elixir business (1,406) –  
  Gain on disposal of investment property (318) –  
  Interest expense 1,034 940
  Interest income (191) (202)
  Share-based payments 186 99
  Share of associated companies’ profit –   (2) 
  Amortisation of other intangible assets –   19
  Impairment of goodwill 624 376
  Fair value gain on investment properties (1,760) (8)

 
Operating income before reinvestment in working capital 20,008 21,663
Increase in receivables (5,287) (786)
Increase in payables 7,470 4,880
Increase in inventories (6,014) (3,215)
Increase in intangible assets –   (31)

 
Cash generated from operations 16,177 22,511
Interest received 191 202
Interest paid (1,034) (940)
Income taxes paid (4,671) (4,338)

 
Net cash provided by operating activities 10,663 17,435

 
Cash flows from investing activities : 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3,995 1,260
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (15,598) (15,423)
Proceeds from sale of investment properties 3,467 –  
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries –   (363)
Acquisition of investment in unquoted share of a company –   (1,675)
Acquisition of intangible assets (27) –  
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary company –   5,100

 
Net cash used in investing activities (8,163) (11,101)

 
Cash flows from financing activities : 
Proceeds from bank loans 6,267 8,731
Repayment of bank loans (2,533) (5,842)
Dividends paid (7,206) (5,746)
Proceeds from hire purchase creditors –   11
Payment of hire purchase creditors (360) (53)
Proceeds from share options exercised  43 444
Proceeds from long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries 198 183
Repayment of long term loan from minority shareholders of subsidiaries (170) (376)

 
Net cash used in financing activities (3,761) (2,648)

 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,261) 3,686
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 16,720 13,034

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (note 24) 15,459 16,720

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
for the year ended 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)

1. Corporate information

 Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (the “Company”) is a limited liability company which is incorporated in 
Singapore.  The Company’s registration number is 199302179H.  The registered office and principal 
place of business of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd is located at 269A South Bridge Road, Singapore 
058818.

 The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the provision of management 
services to its subsidiaries.  The principal activities of the subsidiaries are :

(1) manufacturing, distribution and sale of traditional Chinese, Western and other medicines;

(2) act as commission agents for all kinds of pharmaceutical products;

(3) provision of traditional Chinese medical consultation and treatment, as well as integrative 
medical services;

(4) provision of laboratory testing services; 

(5) investment in properties; and

(6) food and beverages.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company have 
been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for land and buildings, 
investment properties and available-for-sale financial assets that have been measured at their fair 
values.

 The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars ($)/SGD and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand ($’000) except when otherwise indicated. 

 The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Company and are 
consistent with those used in the previous financial year, except for the changes in accounting policy 
disclosed below :

 FRS 40, Investment Property

 On 1 July 2006, the Group early adopted FRS 40 before its effective date of 1 July 2007.

 In prior years, revaluation surplus arising on annual valuation of the investment properties are credited 
directly to asset revaluation reserve.  As a result of the adoption of FRS 40, investment properties 
are measured at fair value and gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment 
properties are included in the profit and loss account in the year in which they arise.  Under the 
transitional provision of FRS 40, asset revaluation surplus of $3,375,000 has been reclassified to 
accumulated profits at 1 July 2006.  The comparatives have not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 FRS and Interpretation of Financial Reporting Standard (“INT FRS”) not yet effective

 The Group and the Company have not applied the following FRS and INT FRS that have been issued 
but not yet effective:

  Effective date 
  (annual periods 
  beginning on
  or after)

 FRS 1 :  Amendment to FRS 1 (revised), Presentation of 
     Financial Statements (Capital Disclosures) 1 January 2007
 FRS 107 :  Financial Instruments: Disclosures   1 January 2007
 FRS 108 :  Operating Segments 1 January 2009
 INT FRS 110 :  Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment  1 November 2006
 INT FRS 111 :  Group and Treasury Share Transactions 1 March 2007
 INT FRS 112 :  Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008

 The directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact to 
the financial statements in the period of initial application, except for FRS 107 and the amendment to 
FRS 1 as indicated below.

 FRS 107, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and amendment to FRS 1 (revised), Presentation of 
Financial Statements (Capital Disclosures)

 FRS 107 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments. It 
requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising 
from financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk 
and market risk, including sensitivity analysis to market risk.  The amendment to FRS 1 requires the 
Group to make new disclosures to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.  The Group will apply FRS 107 and the 
amendment to FRS 1 from annual period beginning 1 July 2007.

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

 Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the 
financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going 
basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Impairment of goodwill

 The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This 
requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the 
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate 
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill at 30 June 2007 is $27,000 (2006: $624,000). 
The details are stated in Note 16.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(ii) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives.  Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant 
and machinery to be 3 - 50 years.  The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant 
and equipment at 30 June 2007 was $60,496,000 (2006 : $51,697,000).  Changes in 
the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic 
useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges 
could be revised.

(iii) Income taxes

 The Group has exposure to income taxes in several jurisdictions.  Significant judgement 
is involved in determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes.  There are certain 
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business.  The Group recognises liabilities for expected 
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  Where the final 
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in 
which such determination is made.  The Group’s tax payables, deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities at 30 June 2007 were $2,709,000, $nil, and $3,361,000 (2006 : 
$3,880,000, $259,000 and $1,464,000) respectively. 

(b) Critical judgments made in applying accounting policies

The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

(i) Operating lease commitments – As lessor

 The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property 
portfolio. The Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of these properties which are leased out on operating leases. 

(ii) Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

 The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has 
developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn 
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property 
generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. 

 Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
and another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services 
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately (or leased out 
separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the 
portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an 
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 
administrative purposes.

 Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services 
are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Subsidiaries and principles of consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

 A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  The Group generally has such 
power when it directly or indirectly, holds more than 50% of the issued share capital, or controls 
more than half of the voting power, or controls the composition of the Board of Directors.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiaries are accounted for 
at cost less impairment losses.

(b) Principles of consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries as at the balance sheet date.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 
prepared for the same reporting date as the parent Company. Consistent accounting policies 
are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

 All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting 
from intra-group transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

 Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which 
the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control 
ceases.

 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method.  The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition.  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.

 Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill. The 
goodwill is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for goodwill stated in Note 
2.16.

 
 Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities over the cost of business combination is recognised in the profit and loss 
account on the date of acquisition.

 
 Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held 

by the Group. They are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately 
from the parent shareholders’ equity, and are separately disclosed in the consolidated profit 
and loss account.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5 Functional and foreign currency

(a) Functional currency

 The management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the Group operates i.e. functional currency, to be SGD. Sales prices and major costs of 
providing goods and services including major operating expenses are primarily influenced by 
fluctuations in SGD.

(b) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currency of the 
Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency 
at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates.  Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange 
ruling at the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary 
items at the balance sheet date are recognised in the profit and loss account.

(c) Foreign currency translation

 The results and financial position of local operation is translated into SGD using the following 
procedures:

• Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate 
ruling at that balance sheet date; and

• Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange 
rates for the year, which approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions.

 All resulting exchange differences are recognised in a separate component of equity as foreign 
currency translation reserve.

 On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences deferred 
in equity relating to that foreign operation is recognised in the profit and loss account as a 
component of the gain or loss on disposal.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised:

(a) Sale of goods/services

 Revenue from the sale of goods are recognised upon passage of title to the customer which 
generally coincides with their delivery and acceptance.  Revenue from medical and laboratory 
services are recognised upon the rendering of services.

(b) Rental income

 Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. 

(c) Interest income

 Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method) unless 
collectibility is in doubt.

(d) Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.  Subsequent to recognition, 
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment. Land and buildings are subsequently revalued, on an asset-by-asset 
basis, to their fair values.  Revaluations are made annually to ensure that their carrying amount does 
not differ materially from their fair value at the balance sheet date.

 The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties 
and non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its 
working condition and location for its intended use, any trade discounts and rebates are deducted 
in arriving at the purchase price.  Expenditure incurred after the property, plant and equipment have 
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is normally charged 
to the profit and loss account in the period in which the costs are incurred.  In situations where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic 
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment beyond its 
originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of 
property, plant and equipment. 

 When an asset is revalued, any increase in the carrying amount is credited directly to the asset 
revaluation reserve.  However, the increase is recognised in the profit and loss account to the extent 
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the profit and loss 
account.  When an asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease 
is recognised in the profit and loss account.  However, the decrease is debited directly to the asset 
revaluation reserve to the extent of any credit balance existing in the reserve in respect of that 
asset.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 30 June 2007 

(In Singapore dollars)
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. The 
revaluation surplus included in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of an asset, is transferred 
directly to accumulated profits on retirement or disposal of the asset.

2.8 Depreciation

 Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated 
on the straight line method to write off the cost or valuation of property, plant and equipment over 
their estimated useful lives.  The estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are as 
follows :

 Freehold and leasehold buildings – 50 years
 Furniture, fittings and equipment – 3 - 10 years
 Motor vehicles – 5 years
 Renovations – 3 - 10 years
 Plant and machineries – 10 years

 No depreciation is provided for construction in progress.  

 The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed annually to ensure that the method and period 
of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, 
plant and equipment.

 Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are 
no longer in use and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.  

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
is included in the profit and loss account in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.9 Investment properties

 Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or 
both. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying 
amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost 
is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an 
investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, 
which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair values of investment properties are included in the profit and loss account in the year in which 
they arise.

 
 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the 

investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 
from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are 
recognised in the profit and loss account in the year of retirement or disposal.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10 Property held for sale

 Property is classified as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset must be available 
for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the 
sale and its sale must be highly probable.

 Property held for sale is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

 Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the profit and loss account as ‘impairment 
losses’ or treated as a revaluation decrease for assets carried at revalued amount to the extent that 
the impairment loss does not exceed the amount held in the asset revaluation reserve for that same 
asset.

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses recognised for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or 
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is 
the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased 
amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in the profit and loss account unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal in excess of impairment loss previously recognised through the profit and 
loss account is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on 
a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

 The Group does not reverse in a subsequent period, any impairment loss recognised for goodwill.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12 Financial assets

 Financial assets within the scope of FRS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale 
financial assets, as appropriate. Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and 
only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

 When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of 
financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.  The 
Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed 
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

 The Group did not have financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and held-to-maturity 
investments.

(a) Loans and receivables

 Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market are classified as loans and receivables. Such assets are carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss 
account when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process.

 The Group classifies the following financial assets as loans and receivables:

• cash and short term deposits;

• trade and other receivables, including amounts due from subsidiaries and associates.
 
(b) Available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated 
as available-for-sale or are not classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.  After initial recognition, available-
for sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised in 
the fair value adjustment reserve until the investment is derecognised or until the investment 
is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in 
equity is included in the profit and loss account.

 The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is 
determined by reference to the relevant Exchange’s quoted market bid prices at the close 
of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where there is no active market, fair 
value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s 
length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument, which 
is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models.

 Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market 
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment 
losses.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.13 Associated companies

 An associated company is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group has significant 
influence. This generally coincides with the Group having 20% or more of the voting power, or has 
representation on the board of directors.

 
 The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method.  Under the equity 

method, the investment in associated company is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associated company. The Group’s 
share of the profit or loss of the associated company is recognised in the consolidated profit and 
loss account.  Where there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associated 
company, the Group recognises its share of such changes. After application of the equity method, the 
Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to 
the Group’s net investment in the associated company. The associated company is equity accounted 
for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the date the Group ceases to have 
significant influence over the associated company.

 
 Goodwill relating to an associated company is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
 
 Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associated company’s identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying 
amount of the investment and is instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s 
share of the associated company’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

 When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company equals or exceeds its interest in the 
associated company, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated 
company.

 
 The most recent available audited financial statements of the associates are used by the Group 

in applying the equity method.  Where the dates of the audited financial statements used are 
not co-terminous with those of the Group, the share of results is arrived at from the last audited 
financial statements available and un-audited management financial statements to the end of the 
accounting period. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in 
similar circumstances.

 
 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for at cost 

less impairment losses.

2.14 Long term investments

 Long term investments are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.  The accounting policy for 
the financial asset is stated in Note 2.12.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.15 Intangible assets

 Patents and trademarks

 Costs relating to patents and trademarks, which are acquired, are capitalised and amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 15 years. They are assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the patents may be impaired.

 The amortisation period and method are reviewed at each financial year-end.  The amortised expense 
is recognised in the profit and loss account through the “Administrative expenses” line item.

 Research costs

 Research costs are expensed as incurred.

2.16 Goodwill

 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost 
of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities.  Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating 
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or group of units. 

 A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired, by 
comparing the carrying amount of the unit, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the 
unit.  Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) 
is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of 
the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of 
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of 
the operation.  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values 
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

 
 The Group does not reverse in a subsequent period, any impairment loss recognised for goodwill.

2.17 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost comprises direct materials 
on a first-in-first-out basis and includes freight and handling charges.  In the case of finished products, 
costs includes direct labour and attributable production overheads based on a normal level of activity.  
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs necessary to make the sale 
and after making allowance for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving items.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.18 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.  Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.  Capitalisation 
of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale 
are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.  Borrowing costs are 
capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use.  If the resulting carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.

2.19 Financial liabilities  

 Financial liabilities include trade payables, which are normally settled on 30-90 day terms, other 
amounts payables, payables to related companies and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.  
Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.  Financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 Gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account when the liabilities are derecognised 
as well as through the amortisation process.  The liabilities are derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.

2.20 Derecognition of financial assets 

 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired.

 On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of (a) 
the consideration received and (b) any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in 
equity is recognised in the profit and loss account.

2.21 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement 
is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the profit and loss account net of any reimbursement.

 Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.22 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or Group of financial assets is impaired.

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in the profit and loss account, to the extent that the carrying value of the 
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

(b) Assets carried at cost

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is 
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative 
asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current 
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in 
subsequent periods.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

 If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference 
between its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, 
less any impairment loss previously recognised in the profit and loss account, is transferred 
from equity to the profit and loss account. Reversals of impairment loss in respect of equity 
instruments are not recognised in the profit and loss account. Reversals of impairment losses 
on debt instruments are reversed through the profit and loss account, if the increase in fair 
value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised in the profit and loss account.

2.23 Employee benefits 

(i) Employee leave entitlement

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  
A provision is made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to balance sheet date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.23 Employee benefits (cont’d)

(ii) Defined contribution plan

 As required by law, the Group’s companies in Singapore and certain overseas subsidiaries 
make contributions to the state pension funds of the respective countries.  Such contributions 
are recognised as compensation expenses in the same period as the employment that gives 
rise to the contribution.

(iii) Employment Ordinance long service payments

 Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required number of years of service to 
the Group in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment 
Ordinance in the event of the termination of their employment.  The Group is liable to make 
such payments in the event that such a termination of employment meets the circumstances 
specified in the Employment Ordinance.

 A provision is recognised in respect of the probable future long service payments expected to 
be made.  Provision is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which have 
been earned by the employees from their service to the Group at the balance sheet date.

(iv) Employee share option plan

 The Company has in place an Employees Share Option Scheme for the granting of options to 
eligible employees to subscribe for shares in the Company.  

 Details of the Plan are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements.

 The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair 
value at the date on which the share options are granted. In valuing the share options, no 
account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the 
shares of the company (‘market conditions’), if applicable.

 The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase 
in the employee share option reserve, over the period in which the performance and/or service 
conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully 
entitled to the award (‘the vesting date’). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting 
period has expired and the group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the profit and loss account for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

 No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where 
vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of 
whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions 
are satisfied.  The share option reserve is transferred to revenue reserve upon expiry of the 
options. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.24 Leases 

(a) As Lessee

 Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at amounts equal, at the inception of 
the lease, to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments.  Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction 
of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period.  Finance charges are charged directly to the profit and 
loss account.

 Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the 
asset or the lease term.

 Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the leased item, are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised 
as an expense in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of 
rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(b) As Lessor

 Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same bases as rental income.

2.25 Taxation 

(i) Current tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

(ii) Deferred tax

 Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associated companies and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.25 Taxation (cont’d)

(ii) Deferred tax (cont’d)

 Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

• Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, associated companies and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets 
are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

•  The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date 
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit 
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

• Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.

• Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity.

• Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(iii) Sales tax

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

• Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

 The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.26 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of 
the Group’s cash management.

3. Revenue

 Revenue for the Group represents sales of goods at invoiced value less returns and trade discounts, 
rental income, medical service income and laboratory service income.  

 Revenue is analysed as follows :
  Total
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Sales of goods 168,896 149,854
 Medical centre income 22,202 20,230
 Rental income 366 272

  191,464 170,356

4. Profit before taxation

 Profit before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting) :

   Group
  Continuing  Discontinued
  operations operations Total
  2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Depreciation of property, 
    plant and equipment 5,386 5,711 23    653 5,409 6,364
 Depreciation of 
    investment properties 18 8 –   –   18 8
 Foreign exchange gains (79) (126) –   (36)  (79) (162)
 Foreign exchange losses 182 1,479 –   2 182 1,481
 Gain on disposal of property, 
    plant and equipment (1,426) (57) –   (1) (1,426) (58)
 Gain on disposal of 
    Elixir Business (1,406) –   –   –   (1,406) –  
 Gain on dilution of 
    interest in a subsidiary (15) –   –   –   (15) –  
 Impairment of goodwill 624 376 –   –   624 376
 Property, plant and 
    equipment written off 101 11 –   –   101 11
 Amortisation of intangible assets –   19 –   –   –   19
 Directors’ fee 154 158 –   –  154 158
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4. Profit before taxation (cont’d)

 Profit before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting) :

   Group
  Continuing  Discontinued
  operations operations Total
  2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Directors’ emoluments :
 - Directors of Company 1,424 1,111 –   –   1,424 1,111
 - Other Directors of 
    subsidiaries 894 556 –   –   894 556
 (Write back)/allowance 
    for doubtful receivables - trade 18 9 –   (61) 18 (52)
 Bad debts written off –   5 –   –   –   5
 Inventory written off 102 120 –   –   102 120
 Share-based payment expense 186 99 –   –   186 99
 Gain on disposal of 
    investment property (318) –   –   –   (318) –  
 Allowance for 
    inventory obsolescence 321 136 –   (3) 321 133
 Fair value gain on 
    investment properties (1,760) (8) –   –   (1,760) (8)

5. Interest income

 Interest earned from 
    fixed bank deposits 191 202 –   –   191 202

6. Interest expense

 Interest on bank overdrafts 3 7 –   –   3 7
 Interest on hire purchase 37 27 –   –   37 27
 Interest on loans and borrowings 899 760 95 146 994 906

  939 794 95 146 1,034 940

7. Tax expense

 The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 30 June are:

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000
 Continuing operations
 Current income tax  
    Current income tax 3,182 4,231
    (Over)/under provision in respect of previous years (94) 40
 Deferred taxation  
    Movement in temporary differences 1,172 (263)

  4,260 4,008
 Discontinued operations 

 Current income tax  – 149

  4,260 4,157
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7. Tax expense (cont’d)

 A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the Group’s effective tax rate applicable to profit before 
taxation was as follows :

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Profit from continuing operations before taxation 19,684 18,728
 Profit from discontinued operations before taxation  (713) (150)

 Profit before taxation for the year 18,971 18,578

   
 Taxation on profit before taxation for the year at 18% (2006 : 20%) 3,415 3,716
 Adjustments:  
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,667 1,503
 Income not subject to taxation (2,663) (1,016)
 Difference in effective tax rate in other countries 367 130
 Deferred tax assets not recognised 615 –  
 Utilisation of previous years’ tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances (74) (249)
 (Over)/under provision in prior years (94) 40
 Others 27 33

  4,260 4,157

 The statutory income tax rate applicable to the Company was reduced to 18% for Year of Assessment 
2008 from 20% for Year of Assessment 2007.

 As at 30 June 2007, certain subsidiaries have unutilised tax losses amounting to approximately 
$2,379,000 (2006 : $403,000) available for setting-off against future taxable profit subject to the 
regulations and agreements by the relevant tax authorities.  Deferred tax assets have not been 
recognised with regards to the tax losses as it is not probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow part or all the carry forward tax losses to be utilised.

8. Discontinued operations

 On 21 October 2006, the Group disposed Elixir Business, which was reported in the other segment 
previously.  The disposal is an effort to concentrate on the Group principal activities.  The disposal in 
prior year was related to Synco (H.K.) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, which was reported in the 
prescription/Over the counter (“OTC”) segment.
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8. Discontinued operations (cont’d)

 The value of assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations were :

  Elixir business Prescription/OTC Total
  2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Property, plant and equipment 174 212 – 3,099 174 3,311
 Intangible assets 256 263 – – 256 263
 Inventories 386 360 – 1,069 386 1,429
 Trade and other receivables – –   – 995 – 995
 Cash and cash equivalents – –   – 249 – 249

  816 835 – 5,412 816 6,247
 Trade and other payables – –   – (2,812) – (2,812)
 Tax payable – –   – (153) – (153)
 Deferred tax liability – –   – (239) – (239)

 Net assets directly associated with
    the assets begin disposed of 816 835 – 2,208 816 3,043
 
 Gain on disposal 1,406 –   – 3,141 – –

 Total consideration, satisfied by
 receipt of unquoted shares/cash  2,222 –   – 5,349 – –
 Cash and cash equivalents – –   – (249) – –

 Net cash inflow on disposal – –   – 5,100 – –

 
 The results attributable to the discontinued operations for the year are presented as below :

 Revenue 1,851 3,091 – 6,974 1,851  10,065
 Expenses (2,564) (4,281) – (5,934) (2,564) (10,215)

 Loss from operations (713) (1,190) – 1,040 (713) (150)
 Tax expense – – – (149) – (149)

 Loss for the year from 
    discontinued operations (713) (1,190) – 891 (713) (299)

 The net cash flows attributable to the discontinued operations are as follow :

 Net cash outflow from 
    operating activities (716) (924) – (501) (716) (1,425)
 Net cash outflow from 
    investing activities – (110) – (75) – (185)

 Net cash outflows (716) (1,034) – (576) (716) (1,610)

9. Dividend
  Group and Company
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Declared and paid during the year
 First and final dividend for 2006 of 1.0 cent per share tax 
    exempt one tier (2005 : 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier) 3,603 2,873
 Special dividend for 2006 of 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one 
    tier (2005 : 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier) 3,603 2,873

  7,206 5,746
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9. Dividend (cont’d)

 The Directors have proposed that a first and final dividend of 1.0 cent per share and a special 
dividend of 1.0 cent per share, to be paid for in respect of the current financial year. This dividend will 
be recorded as a liability on the balance sheets of the Group and of the Company upon approval by 
the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

10. Earnings/(loss) per share

(a) Continuing operations

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

 Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue, adjusted for the effect of dilutive 
share options during the financial year.

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company 14,720 14,431
 Add : Loss from discontinued operations attributable to 
    ordinary equity holders of the Company 713 299

 Profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders
    of the Company used in computation of basic earnings per share 15,433 14,730

  ’000 ’000

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 

   computing of basic earnings per share 360,379 360,299
 Adjustment for share options 1,196 530

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
   for computing diluted earnings per share 361,575 360,829

  Cents Cents
 
 Basic earnings per share
 - continuing operations 4.28 4.09
 - discontinued operations (0.20) (0.08)

 Diluted earnings per share 
 - continuing operations 4.27 4.08
 - discontinued operations (0.20) (0.08)

(b) Discontinued operations

 The basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operation are calculated by 
dividing the “loss from discontinued operation attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
Company” by the “weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings and loss 
per share computation” and “weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the 
effect of dilution” respectively.  These profit and loss account and share data are presented 
above in caption (a) of this Note.
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11. Property, plant and equipment

       Long- Long- Furniture,    Cons- 
       term term fittings    truction 
     Freehold Freehold leasehold leasehold and Motor Reno- Plant and in 
     land building land building equipment vehicles vations machineries progress Total
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Cost and valuation 

At 1 July 2005 2,518 1,218 12,346 9,318 30,516 2,229 4,811 1,939 –   64,895

Additions –   –   –   24 3,955 536 1,270 183 9,455 15,423

Disposals –   –   –   –   (1,792) (290) (1,047) (1) –   (3,130)

Disposal of a subsidiary –   –   –   –   (5,539) (70) –   –   –   (5,609)

Written off –   –   –   –   (1,389) –   –   –   –   (1,389)

Transfer from 

   investment properties –   –   3,054 764 –   –   –   –   –   3,818

Transfer to 

   investment properties –   –   (258) (265)  –   –   –   –   –   (523)  

Gain on valuation 36 16 2,731 786 –   –   –   –   –   3,569

Write-back on revaluation  – 32 (182) (111) –   –   –   –   –  (261)

Foreign currency translation 

   adjustment (27)  (41)   16 35 (255) (15) (96) (22) –   (405)

At 30 June 2006 

   and 1 July 2006 2,527 1,225 17,707 10,551 25,496 2,390 4,938 2,099 9,455 76,388

Additions –   –   –   –   7,536 230 4,676 184 2,972 15,598

Disposals –   –   (1,613) (807)  (2,756) (648) (165) –   –   (5,989)

Disposal of Elixir business –   –   –   –   (346) –   (518) –   –   (864)

Written off –   –   –   –   (296) –   (219) (286) –   (801)

Transfer to 

   investment properties (479) (181) (2,010)   (1,139)   –   –   –   –   –   (3,809)

Transfer to properties 

   available for sale –   –   (343) (211) –   –   –   –   –   (554)

Transfer –   –   –   12,047 –   –   –   –   (12,047) –  

Gain on valuation 271 59 1,712 3,703 –   –   –   –   –   5,745

Write-back on revaluation – (45) (131) (130) –   –   –   –   –   (306)

Foreign currency 

   translation adjustment 7 46 236 323 (647) 21 114 42 (258) (116)

At 30 June 2007 2,326 1,104 15,558 24,337 28,987 1,993 8,826 2,039 122 85,292

 

Representing 

-Cost –   –   –   –   28,987 1,993 8,826 2,039 122 41,967

-Valuation 2,326 1,104 15,558 24,337 –   –   –   –   –   43,325

 2,326 1,104 15,558 24,337 28,987 1,993 8,826 2,039 122 85,292
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

       Long- Long- Furniture,    Cons- 
       term term fittings    truction 
     Freehold Freehold leasehold leasehold and Motor Reno- Plant and in 
     land building land building equipment vehicles vations machineries progress Total
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Accumulated depreciation 

At 1 July 2005 –   –   –   –   19,646 1,031 3,181 1,535 –   25,393

Charge for the year –   24 200 151 4,650 375 827 137 –   6,364

Disposals –   –   –   –   (833) (198) (896) (1) –   (1,928)

Disposal of a subsidiary –   –   –   –   (2,452) (59) –   –   –   (2,511)

Written off –   –   –   –   (1,378) –   –   –   –   (1,378)

Write-back on revaluation  –   32 (182) (111) –   –   –   –   –   (261)

Foreign currency translation 

   adjustment –   (36) (18) (5) (750) (74) (132) 27 –   (988)

At 30 June 2006 and 1 July 2006 –   20 –   35 18,883 1,075 2,980 1,698 –   24,691

Charge for the year –   24 254 150 3,403 352 1,175 51 –   5,409

Disposals –   –   (29) (15) (2,844) (432) (100) –   –   (3,420)

Disposal of Elixir business –   –   –   –   (285) –   (406) –   –   (691)

Written off –   –   –   –   (212) –   (207) (281) –   (700)

Write-back on revaluation  –   (45) (131)  (130) –   –   –   –   –   (306)

Foreign currency translation 

   adjustment –   1 (2) (6) (276) (2) 64 34 –   (187)

At 30 June 2007 –   –   92 34 18,669 993 3,506 1,502 –   24,796

Net carrying value 

At 30 June 2007 2,326 1,104 15,466 24,303 10,318 1,000 5,320 537 122 60,496

At 30 June 2006 2,527 1,205 17,707 10,516 6,613 1,315 1,958 401 9,455 51,697
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

  Furniture,
  fittings and Motor
  equopment vehicles Renovations Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Company

 Cost    
   At 1 July 2005 424 968 83 1,475
   Additions 44 200 –   244
   Disposal (16) –   –   (16)

   At 30 June 2006 and 1 July 2006 452 1,168 83 1,703
   Additions 59 –   –   59
   Disposal (14) (439) –   (453)

   At 30 June 2007 497 729 83 1,309

 Accumulated depreciation 
   At 1 July 2005 306 241 31 578
   Charge for the year 48 198 8 254
   Disposal (16) –   –   (16)

   At 30 June 2006 and 1 July 2006 338 439 39 816
   Charge for the year 58 178 8 244
   Disposal (9) (291) –   (300)

   At 30 June 2007 387 326 47 760

 Net carrying value 
   At 30 June 2007 110 403 36 549

   At 30 June 2006 114 729 44 887

(i) Revaluation of freehold, leasehold land and building 

 The Group and the Company have engaged CB Richard Ellis, W.M. Malik & Kamaruzaman 
and Prudential Surveyors International Ltd, independent professional valuers, to determine 
the fair value of its freehold, leasehold land and building. Fair value is determined by reference 
to open market values on an existing use basis. The date of the valuation was 30 June 2007. 

 If the revalued property, plant and equipment were measured using the cost model, the carrying 
amounts would be as follows: 

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Freehold land 1,362 1,362
 Freehold buildings 492 509
 Leasehold land  1,575 3,012
 Leasehold buildings 15,989  7,325

  19,418 12,208
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 The Group’s major properties are as follows :

   Land area
 Location Description (sq ft) Tenure

(a) No. 22 and 23, Jalan Dato  Shop 13,263 Freehold
 Bandar, Tunggal, Negeri 
 Sembilan, Malaysia
   
(b) No. 1 SS2/67 SEA Park  Shop/hostel 5,216 Freehold
 Petaling Jaya, Selangor,
 Malaysia
   
(c) No. 36 and 38 Leech Street, Shop/warehouse 5,880 Freehold
 Ipoh, Perak, Malaysia
   
(d) No. 2 Jalan Othman Talib, Warehouse 4,140 Freehold
 No. 1 Lorong Iskandar
 Shah, Ipoh, Perak,
 Malaysia

(e) No. 98 Jalan Idris Kampar,  Shop/warehouse 4,600 Freehold
 Perak, Malaysia
   
(f) No. 156 Lebuh Chulia  Shop/warehouse 18,800 Freehold
 Georgetown, Pulau Pinang,
 Malaysia
   
(g) Lot No. LG15, Lower Shop 778 Freehold
 Ground Floor, The Summit, 
 Subang, Malaysia

(h) 269 South Bridge Road, Shop/office 15,048 Lot 99871A – 999
 Singapore   years from 
    1 October 1823 (815 
    years remaining);
    Lot 99869K, 
    99868A & 99866P 
    – 999 years from 1 
    October 1827 (819 
    years remaining)

(i) 265A South Bridge Road, Shop/office 1,408 999 years from
 Singapore   1 October 1823
    (815 years remaining)

(j) 273 & A South Bridge Road, Shop/office 5,207 999 years from
 Singapore   1 October 1823
    (815 years remaining)
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

   Land area
 Location Description (sq ft) Tenure

 (k) No. 2 Persiaran 1/118C, Factory 7,200 99 years lease 
 Desu Tun Razak Industrial   expiry 20.3.2085
  Park II, Cheras, Kuala 
 Lumpur, Malaysia 

(l) No. 4 Persiaran 1/118C, Factory 11,360 99 years lease expiry
 Desu Tun Razak Industrial   20.3.2085
 Park II, Cheras, 
 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

(m) Ground Floor, 192 Lai Chi Shop 617 75 years lease from
 Kok Road, Kowloon,   23.3.1923, renewed
 Hong Kong   for a further 75 years

(n) 10 Wang Lee Street, Office/factory/ 78,021 49 years lease from
 Yuen Long Industrial Park, laboratory/  1.2.1998 to 30.6.2047
 New Territories, warehouse
 Hong Kong 
 

   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(ii) Net book value of property, 
 plant and equipment under hire purchase 538 900 403 729

12. Investments in subsidiaries
  Company
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Unquoted shares, at cost 24,865 23,965
 Less : Impairment loss (3,685) (2,000)

  21,180 21,965
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12. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

 The subsidiaries at 30 June are :-

  Country of   
  incorporation   Percentage of
  and place of  Principal equity held by
 Name of company business activities the Group
  2007 2006
  % %

#   Eu Yan Sang (Singapore)  Singapore Distribution and sale of 100 100
 Private Limited  traditional Chinese and
   other medicine

*   Eu Yan Sang  Hong Kong Manufacturing, processing  100  100
 (Hong Kong) Limited  and sales of traditional
   Chinese medicine
      
** Eu Yan Sang (1959)  Malaysia Distribution and sale of  100 100
 Sendirian Berhad  traditional Chinese and
   other medicine

# Eu Realty (Singapore)  Singapore Property investment and  100 100
 Private Limited  sale of traditional Chinese and
   other medicine

** Weng Li Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia Commission agent in all kinds of  100 100
   pharmaceutical products and 
   manufacturer of medical pills and 
   capsules

** Eu Yan Sang Heritage  Malaysia Property investment and 100 100
 Sdn. Bhd.  provision of management
   services
      
# Eu Yan Sang Marketing  Singapore Distribution of herbal products 100 100
 Pte Ltd
      
* Eu Yan Sang Medical  Hong Kong Dormant 100 100
 Services Limited
       
# Eu Yan Sang  Australia Investment holding 100 100
 Australia Pty Ltd
     
# Red White & Pure Pte. Ltd.  Singapore Distribution and sale of  100 100
   skin care products, provision of 
   lifestyle clinic services and spa
     
** Eu Yan Sang Integrative  Malaysia Provision of integrative 100 100
 Health Sdn. Bhd. (formerly   medical services and
 known as Degree   property investment
 Achievement Sdn. Bhd.) 
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12. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

  Country of   
  incorporation   Percentage of
  and place of  Principal equity held by
 Name of company business activities the Group
  2007 2006
  % %

# Eu Yan Sang Integrative  Singapore Provision of integrative 100 100
 Health Pte. Ltd.  medical services
     
# Yin Yang Spa Products  Singapore Development, manufacturing 100 100
 Pte Ltd  and distribution of spa products

# EYS KangHong Herbal  Singapore Dormant - 100 
 Pte. Ltd.

 Held by subsidiaries

 
# EYS Ventures Pte Ltd Singapore Dormant 100 100
     
# RWP Food Services Pte. Ltd. Singapore Food & beverages 95 100
     
** Vistern Health Sdn Bhd. Malaysia Business of importation,  75 –
   sale and distribution of 
   honey traditional Chinese 
   medicine products 
     
++ Eu Yan Sang (China  Hong Kong Investment holding 100 100
 Ventures) Limited
     
* Top Lot Limited Hong Kong General trading and  100 100
   provision of advertising agency
     
* Eu Yan Sang (Properties)  Hong Kong Property investment 100 100
 Limited
     
* Eu Yan Sang (Export)  The British Dormant 100 100
 Limited Virgin Islands
     
* Supreme Bottled Bird’s  Hong Kong Importation,  90 –
 Nests Co. Limited  manufacturing and 
   distribution of bottled 
   bird’s nests, canned drinks 
   and packaged foods 
     
++▲ Aroma Fresh Pty Ltd Australia Manufacture, sell and  51 51
   distribute natural soap and 
   skincare products
     
^# YourHealth Group Pty Ltd Australia Investment holding and  78.7 78.7
   provision of management 
   services
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12. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

  Country of   
  incorporation   Percentage of
  and place of  Principal equity held by
 Name of company business activities the Group
  2007 2006
  % %
 Held by subsidiaries

^# YourHealth Manly  Australia Provision of integrative 78.7 78.7
 Pty Limited  medical services

^# YourHealth Edgecliff  Australia Provision of integrative 78.7 78.7
 Pty Limited  medical services
     
^# YourHealth Carina  Australia Provision of integrative 78.7 78.7
 Pty Limited  medical services
 
^# YourHealth Camberwell  Australia Provision of integrative 78.7 78.7
 Pty Limited  medical services
     
++▲ Botanical Health  United Sale and distribution of 100 100
 Resources, Inc. States of  specialty tea and tonics
  America
     
+ Eu Yan Sang (Thailand)  Thailand Import, distribution and 79.4 79.4
 Limited  sale of traditional Chinese  
   and other medicine
     
++ Eu Yan Sang (Macau) Ltd. Macau Sale of traditional Chinese  100 100
   medicine and other 
   medical products
     
++ Eu Yan Sang Trading  People’s Wholesale, import and 100 100
 (Guangdong) Co. Ltd Republic of  export of tea leaves
  China
     
++ PT EYS Ventures Indonesia Indonesia Dormant 100 100
     
++ Eu Yan Sang (Taiwan)  Republic of Sale of traditional Chinese 100 –
 Co. Ltd China medicine and other 
   medical products 

# Audited by Ernst & Young, Singapore
* Audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong
** Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia
+ Audited by EX-CL Consulting Business Co., Ltd
++ Not required to be audited by law of country of incorporation
▲ These subsidiaries ceased operation and became dormant.
^ During the financial year, these subsidiaries have been placed under voluntary 
 administration.
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12. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

 Dilution of interest in a subsidiary

 On 31 July 2006, Sichuan Kang Hong Medicine Trading Ltd contribution S$15,000 of capital in a 
subsidiary, EYS Kanghong Herbal Pte Ltd (“EYS Kanghong”). Subsequent to the contribution, the 
Group’s interest in EYS Kanghong was diluted to 50%, with no control. 

 The value of assets and liabilities of EYS Kanghong recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements as at 31 July 2006, and the cash flow effect of the disposal were:

    $’000

 Inventories 3
 Cash and cash equivalents 39
 Other payables (18)

 Carrying value of net assets 24
 Gain on disposal of interest in a subsidiary 15
 Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiary (39)

 Net cash inflow on dilution of interest in a subsidiary –  

13. Investments in associated companies
   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Unquoted shares, at cost   111 96 15 –  
 Share of post-acquisition losses of 
   associated companies   (58) (43) –   –  
 Impairment loss   (51) (51) –   –  
 Currency alignment   (2) (2) –   –   
     –   –   15 –   

 The associated companies as at 30 June are:

  Country of   
  incorporation   Percentage of
  and place of  Principal equity held by
 Name of company business activities the Group
  2007 2006
  % %
 Held by a subsidiary company

* Chengdu Hua ShengHe  People’s Development of scientific- 50 50
 Enterprise Company Republic of based herbal medicine
 (In liquidation since  China 
 June 2005) 
     
+ Orion Corporate Health  Australia Provision of corporate 39 39
 Pty Ltd   health services
     
# EYS KangHong Herbal  Singapore Dormant 50 –
 Pte Ltd 

* Audited by Sze Chuan Heng De Certified Public Accountants.

# Audited by Ernst & Young, Singapore

+ Not required to be audited by law of country of incorporation. 
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13. Investments in associated companies (cont’d)

 The summarised financial information of the associated companies are as follows :

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Assets and liabilities :  
 Current assets 45 11
 Non-current assets 1 1

 Total assets 46 12

 
 Current liabilities 47 4
 Non-current liabilities 3 3

 Total liabilities 50 7

 
 Results : 

 Revenue –   24

 (Loss)/profit for the year (10)  6

14. Long term investments
   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Available-for-sale financial assets

 Unquoted shares, at cost   8,200 5,978 4,300 4,300
 Impairment loss   (4,300) (4,300) (4,300) (4,300)

    3,900 1,678 –   –   

15. Investment properties
  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of the year 6,035 8,670
 Gains from fair value adjustments recognised in the : 
 - profit and loss account 1,760 8
 - asset revaluation reserve –   660
 - depreciation (18)  (8)
 Transfer from owner occupied properties 3,809 523
 Transfer to owner occupied properties –   (3,818)
 Disposal  (3,149) –  

 Balance at end of the year 8,437 6,035

 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which had been determined based on valuation as at 
30 June 2007 performed by registered independent appraisers having an appropriate recognised 
professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the properties being 
valued. The valuations were arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for 
similar properties.
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15. Investment properties (cont’d)

 As disclosed in Note 3, the property rental income earned by the Group for the financial year ended 30 
June 2007 from its investment properties, all of which are leased under operating leases, amounted 
to $366,000 (2006 : $272,000).  Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) 
arising on the rental earning investment properties amounted to $483,504 (2006 : $360,293). 

 The investment properties held by the Group as at 30 June are as follows:

 Description Tenure of land Fair value
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

265B&C South Bridge Road,  999 years lease from 1 October
Singapore 1823 (815 years remaining) 3,367 2,551
   
273B&C South Bridge Road,  999 years lease from 1 October
Singapore 1823 (815 years remaining) 3,702 2,740
   
Lot B1-36 Lower Ground Floor,  
Skudai Parade, Senai 
Expressway, Johor Bahru, 
Johor, Malaysia Freehold 166 221
   
Lot No. LG-15, Lower Ground  
Floor, The Summit Shopping 
Complex, Jalan Kemajuan, 
USJ1, UEP Subang Jaya 
Selangor, Malaysia Freehold 312 –
   
No. 12-J-G, 12-J-1 and 12-J-2,    
Jalan Tun Dr Awang Bandar 
Bukit Jambul, Penang, Malaysia Freehold 348 –
   
Unit C 2nd Floor, Sunview  
Industrial Building, No. 3 On  
Yip Street, Chai Wan,  75 years lease from 1 January
Hong Kong 1963 (31 years remaining) 542 523

  8,437 6,035

16. Goodwill
  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000
 At cost  
   Balance at beginning of the year 624 656
   Goodwill arising from subscription of additional shares in a
     subsidiary company –   376
   Goodwill arising from customer base transferred from Dual 
     Network Sdn. Bhd., an entity in which a subsidiary’s
     minority shareholder has an interest 27 –  
   Impairment of goodwill (624) (376)
   Currency realignment –   (32)

   Balance at end of the year 27 624
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16. Goodwill (cont’d)

 Goodwill acquired through business combinations have been allocated to the cash-generating 
units, namely YourHealth Group Pty Ltd and Vistern Health Sdn. Bhd. for impairment testing.  The 
recoverable amount of goodwill arising from the business acquisition is determined based on a 
value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a 5 years period.

 The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 6% (2006: 6%).  The growth rate used to 
extrapolate the cash flows is 6% (2006: 6%).  Management determined the budgeted growth rate 
based on past experience and its expectation for market development.  The discount rate used is 
pre-tax and reflect specific risk relating to the subsidiaries.

 During the financial year, YourHealth Group Pty Ltd was placed under the voluntary administration, 
consequently, the goodwill in relation to it was written off. 

17. Intangible assets

 Intangible assets represent patents and trademarks stated at purchased cost less accumulated 
amortisation.

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 At cost : 
   Balance at beginning of the year 329 283
   Additions during the year –   31
   Disposal during the year (319) –  
   Currency realignment (10) 15

   Balance at end of the year –   329

 Accumulated amortisation : 
   Balance at beginning of the year 66 50
   Charge during the year –   19
   Disposal during the year (63) –  
   Currency realignment (3) (3)

   Balance at end of the year –   66

 Net carrying value at end of year –   263

18. Property held for sale

 Transfer from property, plant and equipment 554 –   
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19. Inventories

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 At cost : 
 Raw materials 1,564 1,979
 Work-in-progress 4,239 3,015
 Packaging materials 243 285
 Finished goods 14,910 13,435

  20,956 18,714
 At net realisable value : 
 Finished goods 17,975 14,587

 Inventories stated at lower of cost and net realisable value 38,931 33,301

 Finished goods are stated after deducting allowance 
    for stock obsolescence of 488 223

20. Trade receivables

 Trade receivables 9,844 7,784
 Allowance for doubtful receivables (599) (581)

  9,245 7,203

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms. They are 
recognised at their original invoice amounts which represents their fair values on initial recognition.

 Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies :

 Singapore Dollars 717 747
 United States Dollars –   145
 Hong Kong Dollars 6,597 4,792
 Malaysian Ringgit 1,771 1,339
 Australian Dollars 160 180

  9,245 7,203

21. Other receivables
   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Sundry deposits   9,153 7,298 1 105
 Tax recoverable   1,026 205 –   –  
 Sundry receivables   734 104 306 6

    10,913 7,607 307 111
 Allowance for doubtful 
   receivables   (1) (1) –   –  

    10,912 7,606 307 111
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22. Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries
  Company
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Due from subsidiaries 
 Amounts owing by subsidiaries 39,961 31,854

 SGD loans to subsidiaries (unsecured) 
(i) Bears interest at 4.0% (2006: 4.0%) per annum and 
 repayable over 4 years commencing March 2006 240 267
(ii) Bears interest at 4.0% (2006: 4.0%) per annum and 
 repayable over 4 years commencing July 2006 1,290 1,176
(iii) Bears interest at 6% (2006: 4.0%) per annum and 
 repayable over 4  years commencing July 2006 2,724 2,654
(iv) Bears interest between 3.05% to 4.11% (2006 : 1.9% to 
 7.0%) per annum and have no fixed terms of repayment 14,285 9,705

  58,500 45,656
 Allowance for doubtful receivables (10,184) (268)

  48,316 45,388

 Made up of: 
 Current 32,889 32,611
 Non-current 15,427 12,777

  48,316 45,388

 The amounts owing by subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.  
The amounts are expected to be settled in cash.

 Due to subsidiaries
 The amounts owing to subsidiaries are unsecured, bear interest 3.05% to 4.69% (2006: Nil) and are 

repayable on demand. 

23. Amounts due from associates

 The amounts owing by associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.  
The amounts are expected to be settled in cash.

24. Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the 
following balance sheet amounts :

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Cash and bank balances 12,789 8,070
 Bank overdrafts (note 26) (41) –  
 Fixed bank deposits 2,711 8,650

  15,459 16,720
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24. Cash and cash equivalents (cont’d)

 Cash and short term deposits are denominated in the following currencies :

  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Singapore Dollars 3,309 3,532
 Hong Kong Dollars 8,847 11,387
 Malaysian Ringgit 2,280 1,169
 Australian Dollars 842 300
 Indonesian Rupiah 156 183
 New Taiwan Dollars 47 –  
 Thai Baht 19 58
 United States Dollars –   91

  15,500 16,720

 Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates ranging from 0.25% 
to 3.75% (2006 : 0.25% to 3.72%) per annum.  Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of 
between 7 days and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 
earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates.  The weighted average effective interest 
rate of short term deposits is 3.3% (2006 : 3.2%) per annum.

25. Payables

 Trade payables

 Trade payables denominated in foreign currencies at 30 June are as follows :

   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Singapore Dollars   5,938 4,307 –   –  
 Hong Kong Dollars   4,767 2,555 –   –  
 Malaysian Ringgit   1,719 1,947 –   –  
 Australian Dollars   1,505 700 –   –  
 United States Dollars   –   153 –   –  

    13,929 9,662 –   –  

 Other payables

 Accrued expenses   7,263 5,874 1,291 590
 Sundry provisions   3,324 2,489 785 813
 Sundry payables   1,783 888 84 13

    12,370 9,251 2,160 1,416
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25. Payables (cont’d)

 Other payables denominated in foreign currencies at 30 June are as follows :

   Group
    2007 2006
    $’000 $’000

 Singapore Dollars   5,288 4,331 
 Hong Kong Dollars   3,434 2,721 
 Malaysian Ringgit   2,000 1,712 
 Australian Dollars   1,600 387 
 United States Dollars   45 99
 Thai Baht   3 1 

    12,370 9,251

26. Interest bearing loans and borrowings

   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Current:    
 USD Bank overdraft, unsecured (note 24)  41 –   –   –  

 
 Fixed rate loans, unsecured 
 SGD bank loan   –   10,670 –   10,570
 
 Floating rate loans, unsecured 
 USD bank loan   –   1,593 –   –  
 AUD bank loan   1,097 1,000 1,097 –  
 SGD bank loans   20,000 8,100 19,900  8,100

    21,097 21,363 20,997 18,670

 Non-current: 
 SGD bank loan, unsecured   4,000 –   4,000 –  

 Total   25,138 21,363 24,997 18,670

 The loans and borrowings bear interest between 3.05% to 9.8% (2006 : 3.9% to 9.8%) per annum, 
and are secured by corporate guarantee issued by the Company. 

 The interest rates of floating rate loans reprice at 0.75% to 4.75% (2006 : 0.75% to 4.75%) per 
annum over respective banks’ prime rates or cost of fund. The current borrowings of the Group 
and the Company have average maturities of 6 months from the end of the financial year. The non-
current bank loan is repayable in April 2007. 
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27. Hire purchase creditors
   Present  Present
  Minimum value of Minimum value of
  payments payments payments payments
  2007 2007 2006 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group

 Within one year 164 144 249 213
 After one year but not more than five years 490 415 642 560
 After five years –   –   78 62

 Total minimum lease payments 654 559 969 835
 Less : Amounts representing finance charges (95) –   (134) – 

 Present value of minimum lease payments 559 559 835 835

 Company    
 Within one year 89 75 141 120
 After one year but not 
   more than five years 347 291 449 382
 After five years –   –   78 64

 Total minimum lease payments 436 366 668 566
 Less : Amounts representing finance charges (70) –   (102) –  

 Present value of minimum lease payments 366 366 566 566

 The average discount rate implicit in the Group’s and the Company’s hire purchases ranges from 2.2% 
to 6.7% (2006 : 2.2% to 6.7%) and 2.2% to 3.5% (2006 : 2.2% to 3.5%) per annum respectively.

28. Long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries

 Long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are not 
expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future.

29. Deferred tax assets
  Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of the year 259  –  
 Amount credit to asset revaluation reserves –   (98)  
 Transfer to profit and loss (259) 357

 Balance at end of the year –   259
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30. Deferred tax liabilities

   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of the year    1,464 908 18 18
 Provided during the year   2,019 443 –   –  
 Transfer to profit and loss    (1,189) 27 –   –  
 Amount credited to asset 
   revaluation reserve   1,037 299 –   –  
 Disposal of subsidiary   –   (239) –   –  
 Currency realignment   30 26 –   –

 Balance at end of the year   3,361 1,464 18 18

 The deferred taxation arises as a result of excess of net book value over tax written down value of 
property, plant and equipment, the revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment, investment 
properties.

31. Share capital

  Group and Company
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Issued and fully paid : 
   At beginning of year 
     360,298,938 (2006 : 286,593,158) ordinary shares  34,872 14,330
   Bonus issue during the year 
     Nil (2006 : 71,822,030) ordinary shares –   3,591
   Capitalisation of share premium –   16,819
   Issued during the year 
     80,000 (2006 : 1,883,750) ordinary shares  43 132
   Transfer from share option reserves 4 – 

   At end of year 
     360,378,938 (2006 : 360,298,938) ordinary shares  34,919 34,872

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the 
Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction.
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32. Reserves

   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Asset revaluation reserve   8,221 7,258 –   –  
 Capital reserve   453 453 –   –  
 Share option reserve   281 99 281 99
 Foreign currency translation 
   reserve   (6,354) (4,447) –   –  
 Revenue reserve   53,555 40,953 7,041 13,163

 Total reserve   56,156 44,316 7,322 13,262

 Made up of : 
 Distributable reserves   53,555 40,953 7,041 13,163
 Non-distributable reserves   2,601 3,363 281 99

    56,156 44,316 7,322 13,262

   Company
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Revenue reserve  
 Balance at beginning of the year 13,163 14,347
 Profit for the year 1,084 4,562
 Dividend paid (7,206) (5,746)

 Balance at end of the year 7,041 13,163

33. Employee benefits

   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Staff cost (including executive directors) 
 - salaries, bonuses and other costs   29,502 27,068 3,437 3,443
 - Staff Provident Fund   1,869 1,806 130 109
 - Share-based payment   186 99 67 99

    31,557 28,973 3,634 3,651
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33. Employee benefits (Cont’d)

 Under the Eu Yan Sang Employees Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) the following options to subscribe 
for ordinary shares in the Company’s share capital, exercisable at any time during the dates indicated 
below, were outstanding as at 30 June 2007 :

         
   Number Number of Number Number of  Exercise 
 Date of As at of options options of options options At price per 
 grant 1.7.2006 granted expired lapsed exercised 30.6.2007 share Exercisable period
         $ 
 31.03.2003 475,000 –   –   –   – 475,000 0.280 31.03.2004 to 30.03.2013

 31.03.2003 412,500  –   –   –   – 412,500 0.212 31.03.2004 to 30.03.2013

 15.12.2005 3,745,000 –   –   –   (80,000) 3,665,000 0.534 15.12.2006 to 14.12.2015

 13.11.2006 –   2,620,000 –   –   – 2,620,000 0.683 13.11.2007 to 12.11.2016

 

  4,632,500 2,620,000 –   –   (80,000) 7,172,500
  

 Fair value of share options

 The fair value of services rendered in return for share options granted are measured by reference 
to the fair value of share options granted under the ESOS.  The estimate of the fair value of the 
services received is measured based on a black-scholes model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the share options were granted.  The following table states the inputs to the 
model used.  The expected volatility reflects to assumptions that the historical volatility is indicative 
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

 The weighted average fair value of options granted during the financial year was $0.07(2006 : 
$0.02).

 13.11.2006 grant 15.12.2005 grant
  
Expected dividend yield  (%) 3.33 4.35
Expected volatility (%) 18.60    17.13
Risk-free interest rate (%)    2    2
Expected life of options (years) 4 4
Subscription price ($) 0.683 0.534
Share price at date of grant ($) 0.65 0.55
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33. Employee benefits (cont’d)

 The information on directors participating in the ESOS and employees who receive 5 percent or more 
of the total number of options available under the ESOS is as follows :

 Aggregate Aggregate options Aggregate options Aggregate

 options granted since exercised since options

 granted commencement of commencement of outstanding

 during the the Scheme to the Scheme to as at 30 June

Name financial year 30 June 2007 30 June 2007 2007

Directors
Richard Yee Ming Eu –   530,000 –   530,000
Clifford Yee Fong Eu –   475,000 –   475,000
Leslie Kim Loong Mah 225,000 587,500 –   587,500
    
Employees
KF Tan 180,000 180,000 –   180,000
Alice Suet Ying Wong 180,000 690,000 (310,000) 380,000
Eng Hock Lok 180,000 630,000 (250,000) 380,000

 765,000 3,092,500 (560,000) 2,532,500

34. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

The following are commitments for capital expenditure that have not been provided for in the 
financial statements :

   Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000
   

Authorised and contracted for 200 –
Authorised and not contracted for –   3,973

(b) Operating lease commitments – As lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio 
as disclosed in Note 15. These non-cancellation leases have remaining non-cancellable lease 
terms of between 1 and 5 years. 

Future minimum lease payment receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 
June are as follows:

   Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

 Within one year 134 200
 After one year but not more than 5 years 75  88

 209  288
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34.  Commitments (cont’d)

(c)  Operating lease commitments – As lessee

Rental expense for retail outlets of the Group was $20,006,000 (2006 : $17,078,000) for 
the year.  Future minimum lease rental under non-cancellable leases as of 30 June are as 
follows:

   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Within one year 18,043 13,155 –   –  
 After one year but not more than
   5 years 24,530 14,234 –   – 

 42,573 27,389 –   –  

35. Related party transactions

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

The Group and the Company have the following transactions with subsidiaries and related 
parties at rates and terms agreed between the parties :

   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Dividend income from subsidiary  
 companies –   –   15,328 10,655
Interest received from subsidiary  
 companies –   –   660 478
Management fee received from subsidiaries –   –   7,482 6,825
Rental paid to a subsidiary company –   –   181 169
Interest paid to subsidiary –   –   58 5
Loan to subsidiary –   –   –   3,166
Loan from subsidiary –   –   4,050 860 

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

   Group
  2007 2006
  $’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits  3,616 3,296
Staff Provident Fund 93 86
Share-based payments 186 99

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 3,895 3,481

Comprise amounts paid to : 
• Directors of the Company 1,424 1,111
• Other key management personnel 2,471 2,370

 3,895 3,481
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36. Contingent liabilities
   Group Company
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contingent liabilities not provided 
   in the financial statements : 
Corporate guarantees given to bankers for 
   credit facilities granted to subsidiaries –   –   14,467 14,748

37. Segment reporting

 The Company’s operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the 
nature of products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit 
that offers different products and services.  TCM relates to manufacturing, processing and sales of 
traditional Chinese medicines, Prescription/OTC relates to the manufacturing and sales of western 
pharmaceutical products, Clinics relates to the provision of traditional Chinese medical consultation, 
treatment and integrative medical services.  Others segment include the provision of rental of 
premises, laboratory testing services and management services.

 The Group generally account for inter-segments sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were 
to third parties at current market prices.
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37. Segment reporting (cont’d)

(a) Business segments

 
The following tables present revenue and net income information for the Group’s industry 
segment for the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007 and certain asset and liability 
information regarding the Group’s industry segment as at 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007 :

  Discontinued 
 Continuing operations operations
      Elixir
      Business/
    Elimi-  Prescription/ Total
 TCM Clinics Others nations Total OTC operations
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2007 

Revenue 
 

Sales to external customers 168,266 22,202 996 –   191,464 1,851 193,315

Inter-segment sales 12,979 –   23,511 (36,490) –   –   – 

Total revenue  181,245 22,202 24,507 (36,490) 191,464 1,851 193,315

 

Results 

Operating profits 27,100 2,057 12,828 (22,601) 19,384 (618) 18,766

Foreign exchange gain     79 –   79

Foreign exchange loss     (182) –   (182)

Interest income     191 –   191

Interest expense     (939) (95) (1,034)

Impairment of goodwill     (624) –   (624)

Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings     1,760 –   1,760

Gain on dilution of interest in subsidiary     15 –   15

Profit before taxation     19,684 (713) 18,971

Tax expense     (4,260) –   (4,260)

Profit after taxation     15,424 (713) 14,711

Assets and liabilities 
Segment assets 110,860 5,130 33,438 –   149,428 816   150,244

Segment liabilities 22,265 7,045 28,897 –   58,207 –   58,207

 

Other segment information : 
Capital expenditure 10,439 1,298 3,861 –   15,598 –   15,598

Depreciation of property, 

   plant and equipment 4,220 295 871 –   5,386 23   5,409

Depreciation of investment properties –   –   18 –   18 –   18

Impairment of goodwill –   –   624 –   624 –   624
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37. Segment reporting (cont’d)

(a) Business segments (cont’d)

  Discontinued 
 Continuing operations operations
      Elixir
      Business/
    Elimi-  Prescription/ Total
 TCM Clinics Others nations Total OTC operations
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2006 
Revenue
 

Sales to external customers 149,593 20,230 533 –   170,356 10,065 180,421

Inter-segment sales 5,248 –   17,726 (22,974) –   –   – 

Total revenue  154,841 20,230 18,259 (22,974) 170,356 10,065   180,421

 

Results 

Operating profits 23,846 1,830 12,768 (17,405) 21,039 (38) 21,001

Foreign exchange gain     126  36 162

Foreign exchange loss     (1,479) (2)  (1,481)

Interest income     202 –   202

Interest expense     (794) (146) (940)

Impairment of goodwill     (376) –   (376)

Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings     8 –   8

Share of associated companies’ results     2 –   2

Profit before taxation     18,728 (150) 18,578

Tax expense     (4,008) (149) (4,157)

Profit after taxation     14,720 (299) 14,421

Assets and liabilities 

Segment assets 101,626 4,020 20,006 –   125,652 6,247  131,899

Deferred tax assets      259 –   259

     125,911 6,247   132,158

Segment liabilities 14,981 3,219 28,523 –   46,723 3,204 49,927

Other segment information : 
Capital expenditure 14,077 857 430 –   15,364 59 15,423

Depreciation of property, 

   plant and equipment 3,149 640 1,922 –   5,711 653 6,364

Depreciation of investment properties –   –   8 –   –   –   8

Impairment of goodwill –   –   –   –   –   376 376
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37. Segment reporting (cont’d)

(b) Geographical segments

The following table present revenue, capital expenditure and certain asset information 
regarding the group’s geographical segments for the years end 30 June 2007 and 2006.

 Singapore Malaysia Hong Kong Australia/USA Eliminations Total

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006  2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue:
Sales to external customers 54,304 42,751 41,675 36,090 85,927 87,788 11,409 13,792 –   –   193,315 180,421

Inter-segment sales 23,981 18,582 9,566 1,976 2,943 2,416 –   –   (36,490) (22,974) –   –

Segment revenue 78,285 61,333 51,241 38,066 88,870 90,204 11,409 13,792 (36,490) (22,974) 193,315 180,421

Less: Sales attributable to 

   discontinued operation –   –   –   –   –   (6,974) (1,851) (3,091) –   –   (1,851) (10,065)

Revenue from continuing 

   operations 78,285 61,333 51,241 38,066 88,870 83,230 9,558 10,701 (36,490) (22,974) 191,464 170,356

 

Other segment information: 

Segment assets 52,001 33,705 26,852 23,546 68,603 64,913 1,972 3,488 –   –   149,428 125,652

Deferred tax assets –   –   –   –   –   259 –   –   –   –   –   259

Total assets  52,001 33,705 26,852 23,546 68,603 65,172 1,972 3,488 –   –   149,428 125,911

 

Other segment information: 

Capital expenditure : property, 

   plant and  equipment 6,162 2,579 2,275 1,208 7,098 11,488 63 148 –   –   15,598 15,423
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38. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 The Group’s operations carry financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign exchange 
rates and interest rates.  The Group’s overall risk management approach is to minimise the effects 
of such volatility on its financial performance.

 Financial risk management policies are periodically reviewed and approved by the Board of 
Directors.

Foreign currency risk

 The Group has transactional currency exposure, which arise from the sales or purchases by the 
Company and its subsidiaries in those currencies other than their functional currencies.  Besides, the 
Group is also exposed to translational risks arising from its foreign currency denominated assets and 
liabilities.

 The Group manages its transactional exposure by matching, as far as possible, its receipts and 
payments in each individual currencies.  The Group does not use any foreign currency instruments 
to hedge foreign currency exposure on such purchases and sales.

 As further disclosed in Note 2.5 to the financial statements on foreign currencies, exchange differences 
on the Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries are dealt with through the foreign currency 
translation reserve. This currency translation risk is regularly monitored.

 The breakdown of foreign currencies risk by currency was disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements when appropriate. 

Interest rate risk

 The Group obtains additional financing through bank borrowings and leasing arrangements.  The 
Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rate available in the market.

 The Group’s earnings are affected by changes in interest rates due to the impact that such 
changes have on its interest income from short-term deposits, and its interest expense on the bank 
borrowings.

 Interests on financial instruments subject to floating interest rates are contractually repriced regularly. 
Interest on financial instruments at fixed rates is fixed until the maturity of the instruments. The other 
financial instruments of the Group and the Company that are not included in the tables below are not 
subject to interest rate risks. 
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38. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

 Within 1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 More than
 year years years years years 5 years Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2007
Group

Floating rate 
Cash assets 15,500 –   –   –   –   –   15,500
Bank overdraft 41 –   –   –   –   –   41
Bank loans 21,097 4,000 –   –   –   –   25,097

 
Company 
 
Fixed rate 
Amounts due from 
   subsidiaries  2,147 1,063 1,044 –   –   –   4,254

 
Floating rate 
Cash assets 550 –   –   –   –   –   550
Bank loans 20,997 4,000 –   –   –   –   24,997
Amounts due from 
   subsidiaries – –   –   –   –   14,285   14,285
Amounts due to 
   subsidiaries 1,565 –   –   –   –   –   1,565
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38. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Within 1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 More than
 year years years years years 5 years Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2006 
Group 

Fixed rate 
Bank loans 10,670 –   –   –   –   –   10,670

 
Floating rate 
Cash assets 16,720 –   –   –   –   –   16,720
Bank loans 10,693 –   –   –   –   –   10,693

Company 
 
Fixed rate 
Bank loans 10,570 –   –   –   –   –   10,570 
Amounts due from 
   subsidiaries  1,025 1,025 1,025 1,022 –   –   4,097

 
Floating rate 
Cash assets   377 –   –   –   –   –   377
Bank loans 8,100 –   –   –   –   –   8,100
Amounts due from 
   subsidiaries –   –   –   –   –   9,705 9,705
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38. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Counterparty risk

 The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that counterparties fail to perform their 
obligations as at 30 June 2007 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets, other than 
derivatives, is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the balance sheet.

 The Group only transacts with creditworthy counterparties.  Surplus funds are placed with reputable 
financial institutions.  Counterparty risks are managed by limiting aggregate exposure on all 
outstanding financial instruments to any individual counterparty, taking into account its credit rating.  
Such counterparty exposures are regularly reviewed, and adjusted as necessary.  This mitigates the 
risk of material loss arising in the event of non-performance by counterparties.

 Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in economic, industry or geographical factors 
similarly affect the group of counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation 
to the Group’s total credit exposure.  As the Group transacts with a diversity of counterparties in 
different countries, the Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual customers.

Liquidity risk

 As at 30 June 2007, the Group had at its disposal, cash and short-term deposits amounting to 
approximately $15,500,000 (2006 : $16,720,000) to finance its operations.

 The Group’s holdings of cash and short-term deposits, together with non-committed funding facilities 
and net cash flow from operations, are expected to be sufficient to cover the cost of all capital 
expenditure due in the next financial year.  

Fair values

 The fair values of financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
or settled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a 
forced or liquidation sale.

Financial instruments not carried at fair value

 The carrying value of the unquoted equity investment held as long term investments is stated at cost 
of $3,900,000 (2006: $1,678,000) because the fair value cannot be obtained directly from market 
price or indirectly using valuation techniques supported by observable market data. The fair value of 
this investment is expected to be above its carrying values.

 The amount due from subsidiaries and long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries 
have no repayment terms.  Accordingly, the fair values of the amounts are not determinable as the 
timing of the future cash flows cannot be estimated reliably.

Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair value

 Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and 
other receivables, trade and other payables and due to bankers, based on their notional amounts, 
reasonably approximate their fair values because these are mostly short term in nature or are repriced 
frequently. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 30 June 2007 
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39. Events after the balance sheet date

On 30 July 2007, a wholly owned subsidiary, Eu Yan Sang (Hong Kong) Limited (“EYSHK”) has 
incorporated a subsidiary in the Special Administrative Region of Hong  Kong under the name of 
ProNature (Hong Kong) Limited (“PNHK”). PNHK has an authorised capital of HK$10,000 which is 
divided into 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each.  EYSHK will subscribe 1,000 ordinary shares 
of, representing the total issued and paid up capital of PNHK, at a cost of HK$1,000.  PNHK will carry 
on the business of manufacturing and retailing of health food and beverages. 

40. Comparatives

 Certain comparatives have been reclassified to conform with current year’s presentation. 

 As disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements, on 21 October 2006, the Group disposed Elixir 
business, which was reported in the other segment previously, as an effort to concentrate on the 
Group’s principal activities. Accordingly, the following captions of the consolidated profit and loss 
account have been restated as follows :

  Group
   Previously
  Restated reported
  2006 2006
  $’000 $’000

Consolidated profit and loss account 

Revenue 170,356 173,447
Cost of sales (84,448) (85,489)
Other operating income 3,602 3,726
Distribution and selling expenses (51,146) (53,234)
Administrative expenses (17,266) (18,368)
Other operating expenses (1,780) (85)
Foreign exchange loss –   (1,465)
Foreign exchange gain –   126
Interest expenses (794) (940)
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (299) 891
Impairment of goodwill –   (376)
Surplus of revaluation of land and building –   8

41. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

 The financial statements of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd and its Subsidiaries for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2007 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 17 
September 2007.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 30 June 2007 
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Class of equity securities Number of equity securities Voting Rights

Ordinary shares 360,378,938 One vote for each share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholding Number of  Number of Shares 
 Shareholders %  %
    
1            -   999 180 4.72 58,759 0.01
1,000     -   10,000 2,938 77.05 7,522,300 2.09
10,001   -   1,000,000 669 17.55 37,069,718 10.29
1,000,001 and above 26 0.68 315,728,161 87.61
 3,813 100.00 360,378,938 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

 Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
    
Euco Investments Pte Ltd
(“Euco”) 20,711,767 5.75 48,027,500 (i) 13.33
Arisaig ASEAN Fund Limited, 
Arisaig Partners (BV) Limited 
(Fund Manager) 28,946,500 8.03 - -
Bestand Development Corporation 
(“Bestand”) - - 26,463,535 (ii) 7.34
Aberdeen Asset 
Management Plc (“AAM”) - - 25,066,500 (iii) 6.96
Aberdeen Asset 
Management Asia Ltd (“AAMA”) - - 25,066,500 (iv) 6.96
Aberdeen International Fund 
Managers Limited (“AIFM”) - - 19,905,000 (v) 5.52
Clifford Yee Fong Eu 7,190,743 2.00 78,739,267 (vi) 21.85
Laurence Yee Lye Eu 1,875,000 0.52 68,739,267 (vii) 19.07
Richard Yee Ming Eu - - 52,945,143 (viii) 14.69
Billy Wah Yan Ma - - 28,805,845 (ix) 7.99
Robert James Yee Sang Eu - - 26,463,535 (x) 7.34

 

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As At 12 September 2007
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Notes:

(i) Euco’s deemed interests relates to shares held in trust by its nominees.

(ii) Bestand’s deemed interests relates to shares held in trust by its nominee.

(iii) AAM’s deemed interest relates to Shares held in various investment funds (and under various 
nominee accounts).

(iv) AAMA’s deemed interest relates to Shares held in various investment funds (and under various 
nominee accounts).

(v) AIFM’s deemed interest relates to Shares held in various investment funds (and under various 
nominee accounts).

(vi) By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Clifford Yee Fong Eu is deemed to be interested in all 
the 2,500,000 Shares held in trust by his nominees, 68,739,267 Shares held by Euco (by itself or in 
trust by its nominees); 5,625,000 Shares of Perpetual Investments Ltd (held in trust by its nominee), 
1,875,000 Shares owned by his wife.

(vii) Laurence Yee Lye Eu is deemed interested in all the Shares held by Euco (by itself or in trust by its 
nominees) by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

(viii) The deemed interests of Richard Yee Ming Eu relates to Shares held in trust by his nominees. He is 
also deemed to be interested in 14,125,000 Shares owned by his wife (held in her name and in trust 
by her nominees).

(ix) By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Billy Wah Yan Ma is deemed to be interested in all the 
Shares held by Bestand and 2,342,310 Shares held by UOB Kay Hian Private Limited.

(x) Robert James Yee Sang Eu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Bestand by virtue 
of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As At 12 September 2007
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholders Number of Shares %
   
1. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 99,506,050 27.61
2. DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 32,105,393 8.91
3. EUCO INVESTMENTS PTE LTD 27,872,267 7.73
4. HL BANK NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD 27,624,000 7.67
5. UOB NOMINEES (2006) PTE LTD 17,700,070 4.91
6. CIMB BANK NOMINEES (S) SDN BHD 16,250,000 4.51
7. OVERSEA-CHINESE BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 14,142,000 3.92
8. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 13,318,500 3.70
9. LEONG  KWEI CHUN 12,574,955 3.49
10. DAVID EU YEE TAT 11,523,806 3.20
11. DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD 5,625,000 1.56
12. EU YEE KWONG GEOFFREY 4,738,667 1.31
13. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 4,487,250 1.25
14. AMFRASER SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 3,437,500 0.95
15. EU KENG IU ROY AND EU YAN WAI 3,089,292 0.86
16. NOMURA SINGAPORE LIMITED 3,000,000 0.83
17. EU MEI YING HELENA MRS HELENA HO 2,772,056 0.77
18. UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 2,529,810 0.70
19. EU KENG MUN RICHARD, DR 2,056,545 0.57
20. CHANG SEOW YING ALISON 1,875,000 0.52
 TOTAL 306,228,161 84.97

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

Approximately, 25.2% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of the Public. Accordingly, the 
Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

Public is defined in the Listing Manual as persons other than:-

(a) directors, chief executive officer, substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the 
Company and its subsidiary companies; and

(b) associates of the persons in paragraph (a).

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As At 12 September 2007
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at The Arts 
House, The Blue Room, Level 2, 1 Old Parliament Lane, Singapore 179429 on Thursday, 25 October 2007 
at 3.00 p.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year 
ended 30 June 2007 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a first and final dividend of 1 cent per ordinary share and a special dividend of 1 cent per 
ordinary share (or a total of 2.0 cents per ordinary share) [one-tier tax exempt] for the year ended 30 
June 2007 [2006: a first and final dividend of 1 cent per ordinary share and a special dividend of 1 
cent per ordinary share (or a total of 2.0 cents per ordinary share)] (Resolution 2)

 
3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 109 of the Company’s Articles of 

Association:
  
 Mr Ian Wayne Spence (Retiring under Article 109) (Resolution 3)
 Mr Clifford Yee Fong Eu (Retiring under Article 109) (Resolution 4)

 Mr Ian Wayne Spence will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee, a member of Compensation Committee and 
will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited. 

 Mr Clifford Yee Fong Eu will be considered non-independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of 
Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$175,000 for the year ending 30 June 2008, to be paid 
quarterly in arrears. (2007: S$160,000).  (Resolution 5)

5. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix 
their remuneration. (Resolution 6)

6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General 
Meeting of which due notice shall have been given.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution, with or without any 
modifications:

7. Authority to allot and issue shares up to 50 per centum (50%) of issued shares in the capital 
of the Company

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be authorised and 
empowered to:  

(a) (i)   issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; 
and/or

 (ii)  make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or 
would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue 
of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments 
convertible into shares,

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons 
as the Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) 
issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company 
while this Resolution was in force,

 provided that the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in accordance with the 
terms of convertible securities issued, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be allotted and 
issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the issued shares in the 
capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, of which the aggregate number 
of shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to all shareholders 
of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the issued shares in the capital of 
the Company and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general 
meeting, continue in force (i) until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting 
or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be 
held, whichever is earlier or (ii) in the case of shares to be issued in accordance with the terms of 
convertible securities issued, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the issuance of such 
shares in accordance with the terms of such convertible securities. 

 [See Explanatory Note (i)]  (Resolution 7)

By Order of the Board

Tan Kang Fun @ KF Tan 
Sebastian Cher Liang Tan
Company Secretaries

Singapore, 9 October 2007

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING



Notes:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled 
to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his/her stead.  A proxy need not be a Member of the 
Company.

  
2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 

269A South Bridge Road, Singapore 058818 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for 
holding the Meeting.

Explanatory Notes on Special Business to be transacted:-

(i) The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the 
date of this Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, or the date by which the next 
Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held or when varied or revoked by the Company 
in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to allot and issue shares, make or grant instruments 
convertible into shares and to allot and issue shares pursuant to such instruments, up to a number 
not exceeding, in total, 50% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time of the 
passing of this resolution, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to 
shareholders

 For the purpose of this resolution, the percentage of issued shares in the capital of the Company 
is based on the issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time this proposed Ordinary 
Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of 
convertible securities, the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards outstanding 
or subsisting at the time when this proposed Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent 
consolidation or subdivision of shares.

 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT  

 The Directors of the Company collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy 
of the information given herein and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of 
their knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statements 
in this notice misleading.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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EU YAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LTD
 Company Registration No. 199302179H
(Incorporated In The Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

I/We, 

of

being a member/members of  Eu Yan Sang International Ltd  (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our 
proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company 
to be held on 25 October 2007 at 3.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies 
to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder.  If no specific direction 
as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, 
the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to 
demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to:  For Against

 1 Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 30 June 2007

2 Payment of proposed fi rst and fi nal dividend of 1 cent per ordinary share and a 
special dividend of 1 cent per ordinary share

3 Re-election of Mr Ian Wayne Spence as a Director

4 Re-election of Mr Clifford Yee Fong Eu as a Director

5 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$175,000 for the year ending 30 June 
2008

6 Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors and to authorise the 
Directors to fi x their remuneration

7 Authority to allot and issue new shares 

Dated this day of 2007

Total number of Shares in : No. of Shares

(a)  CDP Register

(b)  Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

*Delete where inapplicable

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Eu Yan Sang 

International Ltd’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the 
request of the CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR 
INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be 
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be 
used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must 
submit their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within 
the time frame specified. If they also wish to vote, they must submit 
their voting instructions to the CPF Approved Nominees within the 
time frame specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.



Notes :

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your 
name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 
of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares registered in your 
name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the 
Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name 
in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no number is 
inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held 
by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to 
appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the 
Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the 
proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by 
each proxy.

4. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from 
attending and voting at the Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to 
be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, and in such event, the Company reserves 
the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the 
Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company 
at   269A South Bridge Road, Singapore 058818 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for 
the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his 
attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed 
by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney 
duly authorised.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on 
behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged 
with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body 
such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 
of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, 
improperly completed or illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from 
the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in 
the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing 
a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against 
his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as 
certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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